# Georgia State University Digital Archive @ GSU

Political Science Theses

Department of Political Science

12-4-2006

# Understanding Access to Essential Pharmaceuticals during a Public Health Crisis

Andrew Jessen

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalarchive.gsu.edu/political science theses

## Recommended Citation

Jessen, Andrew, "Understanding Access to Essential Pharmaceuticals during a Public Health Crisis" (2006). *Political Science Theses.* Paper 9.

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Political Science at Digital Archive @ GSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Political Science Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Archive @ GSU. For more information, please contact digitalarchive@gsu.edu.

# UNDERSTANDING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL PHARMACEUTICALS DURING A PUBLIC HEALTH CRISIS

by

#### ANDREW ROGER JESSEN

Under the direction of Jennifer L. McCoy

#### **ABSTRACT**

Despite the benefits of antiretroviral therapy in treating HIV/AIDS, government responses have varied substantially, from provisions guaranteeing nearly universal access to insufficient provisions providing almost no access. This research seeks to specifically examine primary explanations, such as economic capacity, and emerging explanations, such as the role of electoral accountability and the presence of stigma, and the coordination between the epistemic community and political leadership as potential causes for the variance in the government provision. By controlling for state economic capacity, this research furthers the importance of examining other explanations for state response in light of a public health crisis. While electoral accountability and the role of stigma had marginal impacts, the level of scientific coordination and understanding among the states political leadership had perceptible impacts. This research also tests broader aspects of the political economy such as the role of state capacity and subsequent government crisis response.

INDEX WORDS:

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV), Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), Latin America, Honduras, Nicaragua, Chile, Colombia, government response, state capacity, role of electoral accountability and stigma, coordination and understanding among political leadership and epistemic communities, international public health, antiretroviral therapy, essential pharmaceuticals.

# UNDERSTANDING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL PHARMACEUTICALS DURING A PUBLIC HEALTH CRISIS

by

# ANDREW ROGER JESSEN

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment for the Requirements for the Degree of

Masters of Arts

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

Copyright by Andrew Roger Jessen 2006

# UNDERSTANDING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL PHARMACEUTICALS DURING A PUBLIC HEALTH CRISIS

by

# ANDREW ROGER JESSEN

Major Professor: Jennifer L. McCoy Committee: William M. Downs Michael E. Smith

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Studies College of Arts and Sciences Georgia State University December 2006

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LI	ST OF TABLES	vi
LI	ST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vii
CI	HAPTER	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
	1. INTRODUCTION	1
	2. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
	a. State Capacity and Economic Limitations	4
	b. Electoral Accountability: Role of Stigma and Marginalization	6
	c. Coordination between Epistemic Community and the Political Leadership	7
	3. HYPOTHESES	11
	a. Hypothesis <sub>a</sub>	11
	b. Hypothesis <sub>b</sub>	11
	c. Hypothesis <sub>c</sub>	11
	4. CASE SELECTION AND MEASUREMENT	13
	5. A DISCUSSION OF LIMITATIONS	16
	6. COUNTRY DATA	17
	a. Honduras	18
	b. Nicaragua	26
	c. Chile	32
	d. Colombia	38
	7. ANALYSES	45
	8 CONCLUSIONS	52

9. WORKS CITED	56
a. Literature Review	56
b. Country Data	61
10. APPENDICES	76
Appendix A: Percentage of Antiretroviral Therapy Provision	76
Appendix B: Composite H1 Index (2002-2004)	76
Appendix C: Determination of Ordered Pairs	77

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Percentage of Antiretroviral Therapy Coverage	2
Table 2:	Composite H1 Index (2002-2004)	7
Table 3:	Summary of Situation in Honduras	25
Table 4:	Summary of Situation in Nicaragua	1
Table 5:	Summary of Situation in Chile.	37
Table 6:	Summary of Situation in Colombia.	14

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS (Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome)

ALCA (Free Trade Area of America)

APC (Alliance for Chile Party)

AUGE (Universal Access to Explicit Guarantees Plan)

CONASIDA (Chilean National AIDS Commission)

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations)

FARC (Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia)

FSLN (Sandinista National Liberation Front)

HAART (Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy)

HIV (Human Immunodeficiency Virus)

LCLLS (Colombian Anti-AIDS League)

NGO (nongovernmental organization)

PAHO (Pan American Health Organization)

PDC (Christian Democrat Party)

PLC (Liberal Constitution Party)

PLH (Liberal Party of Honduras)

PNH (National Party of Honduras)

PLWHA (People Living With HIV/AIDS)

UN (United Nations)

UNAIDS (Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS)

WHO (World Health Organization)

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Despite positive technological developments in treatment and prevention, the global prevalence of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) rose to its highest level in 2004 at an estimated 39.4 million (UNAIDS 2004). In Latin America specifically, about 1.7 million people are currently living with HIV, of which 240,000 were recently infected. In 2004, about 95,000 died in Latin America due to direct complications of HIV/AIDS. Besides this increased level of mortality, studies have shown this epidemic as severely impacting the labor supply and the productivity of national economies, fostering inequality and poverty especially among women and the youth, and reducing the political legitimacy, efficacy of the government, and military security of the nation (Haacker 2004; Summers, Kates, Murphy 2002; FAO 2001, Petagatienan and Blibolo 2002; Dixon, McDonald, and Roberts 2002; Nelufule 2004; Ostergard 2002; Schneider and Moodie 2002).

When HIV/AIDS emerged in the early 1980s, few viable treatment and therapy options existed to prolong life or improve living standards. In 1993, nearly a decade after the emergence of HIV/AIDS, only three anti-HIV drugs had made it successfully to market (Cohen 2002). These pharmaceuticals provided marginal benefits at best, prolonging the life of the infected individual but not improving the quality of their life. In Latin America, the prevalence of AIDS increased throughout all existing population groups (Stanecki and Way 1996).

This seemingly futile quest changed in 1996 when researchers discovered that a specific regimen of pharmaceuticals known as highly active antiretroviral therapy or HAART, had the

capability to dramatically curb the level of HIV in the blood, prevent further immune damage, and prevent the transmission of mother to child (Piot 1996). Some countries using this therapy, such as Brazil, have reduced their HIV-related mortality by 50 percent since 1996, while others studies have shown an increase in mortality, often attributed to late treatment regimes (Attawell, Mundy 2003). This antiretroviral therapy has also reduced the risk of tuberculosis in developing nations (Attawell, Mundy 2003:2). Initially, this therapy cost about \$15,000 for a year's treatment regimen per individual. However, Indian companies quickly duplicated this molecule and began selling a generic regimen for a fraction of the initial price. In 2003 with manufacture in Brazil, India, and Thailand, these annual expenses dropped to \$675 and under \$300 for brand and generic name regimens respectively (Attawell).

While this therapy and the deteriorating health conditions suggested a promising future

for infected countries, the response in Latin America varied substantially, from provisions guaranteeing nearly universal access to insufficient provisions providing almost no access. For instance, the Brazilian government has provided access to 90% of its infected patients, while countries such as Nicaragua and Peru have provided at best minimal coverage (Abreu, Noguer, and Cowgill 2003).

 Table 1: Percentage of Antiretroviral Therapy Coverage

	2002	2003	2004
Argentina	100	100	90
Bolivia	6		19
Brazil		100	86
Chile	91	100	100
Colombia	35		47
Ecuador	65		34
El Salvador		30	32
Guatemala		23	30
Honduras	4	18	30
Mexico		100	74
Nicaragua	0	2	4
Peru	15		18
Uruguay		90	100

Sources: PAHO 2002; WHO Coverage 2003; WHO Initiative Report 2004

Typically, the presence of intellectual property and the costs of antiretroviral provision have been blamed for this variance. The imposition of patents has allowed firms in developed

states a commercial incentive for the substantial investment and the production of a finished product that may be easily duplicated. As noted earlier, the relaxing of these intellectual property conditions (patents) in developing states and the subsequent donations by international institutions have reduced substantially the cost of the antiretroviral therapy. Despite this reduction, economic capacity and international patents remain the primary blame for the low public health provision in antiretroviral therapy. This variance between perceptions and reality suggest that other factors impact the provision of antiretroviral therapy. For example, electoral accountability and the role of scientific understanding certainly impact the level of government policy regarding its provision of antiretroviral therapy.

This research seeks to specifically examine these explanations as potential causes for the variance in the government provision of antiretrovirals among Latin American countries. Each theory economic capacity, electoral accountability and the presence of stigma, and coordination between the epistemic community and political leadership has potential explanatory value. Questions raised include: "If structural issues such as economic capacity explain the variance, how might one explain the variance among states with similar resources, but varying actions? How might the presence and nature of democracies in Latin America affect this government provision of pharmaceuticals? Finally, how might understanding of the HIV/AIDS crisis affect a government's response?"

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Three distinct theories in comparative political economy present themselves as potential explanations for the variance in the government provision of antiretrovirals. In brief, the first suggests that the government lacks the economic capacity to purchase the antiretrovirals or to provide the necessary infrastructure for their production and/or management. Instead of resource constraints and system capacity, the second theory suggests that in democracies, the presence of stigma and the marginalization surrounding HIV/AIDS may play a role in this variation. Finally, the third theory suggests that a knowledge disconnect exists between the epistemic community and the government officials. In this case, variance in knowledge among the political leadership about HIV/AIDS and its treatment and prevention options may play a role.

#### a. State Capacity and Economic Limitations

The first theory concerns the state's capacity to mobilize its internal resources to mitigate the effects of infectious diseases upon its citizens. According to Theda Skocpol, state capacity includes sovereign integrity, financial resources, skilled bureaucracy, and the institutional mechanism to utilize these resources (Skocpol 1985:3-13). Andrew Price-Smith, building upon this definition and Thomas Homer-Dixon's earlier argument about capability, defines state capacity as the ability of a country to maximize both wealth and stability, to wield sovereign control and to protect this territory from predatory forces, and to adjust to both internal and external crises (Price-Smith 2002: 25).

Naturally, the initial position of this state capacity determines the timing and commitment of any adaptation to a crisis. According to Price-Smith, "states with higher initial capacity" will wield greater financial resources to react to impending crises. Finally, one must recognize that intervening variables alter the position of the state capacity. For instance, both internal variables

such as civil war or significant environmental damage, external variables such as the swift introduction and hasty introduction of international capital affect state capacity to respond to internal crises.

In the case of HIV/AIDS, this theory suggests that the state either lacks either the economic capacity to purchase the antiretrovirals or the state capacity to provide the necessary infrastructure for their management (Morrison 2002; Nkengasong 2002; Bate and Tren 2004; HIV International AIDS Conference 2004). For instance, Morrison identifies key challenges including the necessity to expand health system capacity as well as the cost of integrating prevention and treatment activities (Morrison 2002).

Furthermore, the complexity of regimens combined with the scarcity of health care providers directly impacts the government capacity to utilize any antiretroviral treatment effectively (Grubb, Perriens, Schwartlander 2003). Essentially, limited health service infrastructure limits the capacity of certain states in implementing the complex program of antiretroviral therapy for any large scale demand (Attawell, and Mundy 2003). For instance, in Malawi, studies suggest that the advancement of the antiretroviral treatment has slowed due to the additional workload as well as the direct impact upon non antiretroviral patients (IRINNews 2003). Other authors noting the limited human resource infrastructure argue that countries such as China struggle with providing access to antiretroviral therapy due to insignificant numbers of doctors with appropriate training and skills (Sui 2003; Attawell 2003).

Finally, many have suggested the possibility of an emergence of potential drug resistant strains of HIV due to in-appropriate prescriptions, and interruptions in drug supply and adherence (Irwin, Millen, Fallows 2003: 88; Morrison 2002; Chequer et. al 534). Several studies including a 2003 World Bank study indicate that high adherence tendencies suggests that this emergence is unlikely (Attawell 2003; Chequer 2002). Finally, related factors increasing the

price of the antiretrovirals and thereby diminishing state capacity include exorbitant transportation, storage and monitoring costs (Irwin, Millen, Fallows 2003:75).

# b. Electoral Accountability: Role of Stigma and Marginalization

The second theory bridges classical democratic norms with the level of marginalization caused by the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Liberal democratic theory has held that there exists a bond between the government and the governed (Downs 1957; Schmidt 2002, 167). This bond, or vote, allows the democratic constituency to choose participants in their government. In the case of free and fair elections, political participation, and civil liberties surrounding these elections, this decision ultimately yields political legitimacy, accountability, and responsiveness to citizen demands (Diamond, Hartlyn, Linz, and Lipset 1999; Diamond 2002). While there exists discontent in the efficacy of democracy in Latin America, studies have shown that Latin Americans fundamentally perceive the right to vote and democracy as the only legitimate form of government (Lagos 2002; Lagos 2003; UNDP 2004).

Due to the significance of the selection process (through voting), the level and the extent of participation among and across affected groups surely has significance. In the case of infectious diseases, the evidence indicates that societies have historically stigmatized the infected population, reducing their capacity to mobilize general support and adopt appropriate remedies (Rushing 1996, 163-180). This stigmatization characterizes the victim as both a deviant, and responsible for their own situation due to perceptions of their engagement in illicit, such as drug use or prostitution, or "immoral behavior", such as homosexuality (Khuat, Nguyen, Ogden. 2004; Nyblade et al 2003). Typically, this stigmatization diminishes the voice of this affected population. However, theory suggests that eventually this marginalization will reverse itself when this proportion of the infected population increases to a certain level (Milner 1997: 34-36).

In other words, there exists a tipping point when this population loses its marginal status and gains a mainstream status.

When the political leadership of the state must secure support (and the vote) from this infected population, they will be more likely to promote methods, such as the provision of pharmaceuticals, that will secure this support. Naturally, this theory assumes the political leadership seeks to maximize its utility, or seek reelection. Downs deems this behavior an "office-seeking" motivation (Downs 1957) and ultimately assumes that policy choices depend upon reelection considerations rather than their appropriateness in the respective situation.

In sum, democratic theory suggests that democracies retain their support through participation in elections. Initially, participants (the infected population) suffering though stigma and discrimination will be less likely to gather suitable momentum. However, as their relative percentage increases in the democracy, theory would insist a reversal in the balance of power. This reversal in turn would ensure measures such as the provision of pharmaceuticals by the political leadership in order to gain their support in the electoral process.

# c. Coordination between Epistemic Community and the Political Leadership

The third theory proposes that under complex issues, such as the assessment of science and technology, there exists varying levels of coordination between the epistemic community and the political leadership of the country. Naturally, this knowledge, in turn, will impact the provision of pharmaceuticals by states. Before exploring this disconnect, one should briefly visit the state and its use of uncertain scientific information and research. First, national governments have historically bound scientific and technological enterprises with the interest of the state (Skolnikoff 1993, 27; Durbin 1980; Clarke 1985; Bridgstock et al 1998:7-13; Bhalla and James 1988). For example, after World War II many developed states accelerated their funding of scientific research, often in order to remain sufficiently advanced in terms of weapons

capabilities. Ultimately, states have either propelled innovation and its subsequent technology through the promotion of research and development and related national programs, or acquired the technology from exterior sources through sharing, purchase, or espionage (Bhalla and James 1988:301-302). Through the years, spending on science grew to a point of doubling every fifteen years (Bridgestock 1998: 9).

Unfortunately, politicians do not always recognize or realize that "their understanding of complex issues and linkages (such as advanced technology) is limited" and that a crisis or shock is necessary "to overcome the institutional inertia and habit" and bring about actual reform by seeking the assistance of the epistemic and scientific community (Haas 1992:14; Von Schomberg 1993: 7). This epistemic community, often comprised of scientists and international agents, both focuses on knowledge production and application, and shares a normative commitment to a certain causal model (Haas 1991: 40-41). According to theory, this community can provide four valuable functions including: 1) provision of advice into cause and effect relationships, 2) clarification of complex "interlinkages", 3) help defining the state's interest, and 4) help shaping potential policies (Haas 1992: 15). Similarly, Schomberg notes that the political elite often assume a functional belief or trust in the reliability and production of advanced technological information.

At other times, these politicians have chosen to ignore or misrepresent the findings of the respective scientific community. For example, these politicians may be "skeptical about the value of technological progress,... or (may) mistrust authority in bureaucracies responsible for technological change" (Nelkin 1977: 12). Haas similarly notes that under crisis conditions, procession of information was "at best incremental and that decision makers tended to apply simplified images of reality which were highly resistant to modification (Haas 1992: 28). In the scientific community, an earlier survey reveals that only a fraction (18%) believe that science

serves as a principal determinant of scientific truth, while a substantial amount (72%) believe that the "society's political system, including the values and beliefs of its citizens stands as the principal determinant" of scientific truth (Cole 1983: 87). Cole attributes this shift in the universality in the belief in science and technology to the publication of Thomas Kuhn's "The Structure of Scientific Revolution."

In relating to access to pharmaceuticals, this theory denies the neoclassical assumptions that economic sanctions solely prevented the technological diffusion and the use of pharmaceuticals. For example, according to the literature and specifically to Sell, "weak states can resist external threats even at substantial costs to themselves" (Sell 1995: 316). These weak states can reject the "value creation" of the advanced state (Sell 1995: 316) and withstand pressure in the face of a crisis. Proponents of this theory often cite as evidence the case of South Africa and its level of provision of antiretroviral therapy in the face of its HIV/AIDS crisis.

Before the discovery of HAART, South Africa had no concrete solutions for halting the advance of the HIV/AIDS virus. In 1997, South Africa passed the Medicines and Related Substances Control Amendment Act of 1997 (hereafter called the Medicine Act). In short, the Medicine Act propelled two provisions, 1) the capacity to use generic substitution and 2) the capacity to prescribe generic substitutes. Specifically, under Sect 15(2), this act declared that the South African Health Minister could "compel a particular drug's patent holder to license another company to produce its drugs, if that can be done cheaper than buying them from the patent holder" (quoted in Bass 2002). While the legislature passed the Medicine Act, Thabo Mbeki, the president of South Africa, openly questioned and doubted the link between HIV and AIDS.

Forty one pharmaceutical firms filed a law suit against the South Africa Government in February of 1998. According to these actors, the suit's intent was to halt the "uncontrolled importation of manufactured and cut-price versions of patents in AIDS drugs (Collins 2001,

176). At the time of lawsuit filing, South Africa political officials had not transformed the law from idea into actual implementation. After the subsequent international moral outrage, these pharmaceutical companies suspended the suit against South Africa, offering them reduced price pharmaceuticals (Lueck 1999). The South African government rejected this offer.

On April 19, 2001, the advanced countries and the international pharmaceutical industry dropped its litigation altogether against South Africa (Block & Gardiner 2001). Immediately, South Africa announced its own uncertainty on whether it still wanted to break the international pharmaceutical patent and develop the generic antiretroviral pharmaceuticals. Following this announcement, the international community criticized South Africa and its political leadership for its failure to accept the findings and conclusions of the epistemic community.

In sum, this theory suggests that the level of knowledge transfer between the epistemic community and the political leadership of states affects the level of uncertain technology usage, such as the provision of pharmaceuticals. Political leadership that accepts an international consensus will be more likely to adopt this technology. As was seen in the case of South Africa, political leadership without this acceptance will be less likely to adopt this technology.

#### 3. HYPOTHESES

Based upon the literature review, three hypotheses have presented themselves. Naturally, the null hypothesis for each explanation would indicate that no statistical relationship exists between the proposed independent variable and the dependent variable.

# a. Hypothesisa

States will provide antiretroviral treatment (through the purchase of generics or originals) to their infected population, at a level corresponding to effective state capacity (financial, economic, and health infrastructure).

## b. Hypothesis<sub>b</sub>

The larger the proportion of people living with HIV/AIDS in a democracy, the greater will be the voting impact upon policy makers. The level of this impact will be reflected in a proportionately, greater level of antiretroviral provision among those HIV/AIDS patients that need it. Similarly, the smaller the proportion of people living with HIV/AIDS in a democracy, the smaller will be the voting impact upon policy makers. Without this impact, these policy makers will be less likely to increase the level of antiretroviral provision among its HIV/AIDS patients.

# c. Hypothesis<sub>c</sub>

States and policy makers with an understanding of HIV/AIDS and/or the benefits of antiretrovirals will demonstrate this knowledge through accuracy and certainty in their public statements and government publications. For example, policy makers with greater awareness will form and support AIDS related commissions. Ultimately, as awareness of HIV/AIDS among policy makers increases, the political leadership will be more inclined to provide antiretroviral

therapy to its infected HIV/AIDS population. Potential examples of demonstrating this awareness include undertaking proactive actions such as officially recognizing the extent of the epidemic, supporting both prevention and treatment programs of HIV/AIDS through legislation, negotiation, and action, and rectifying past mistakes.

#### 4. CASE SELECTION AND MEASUREMENT

The case analysis employs a most similar systems design. Cases were selected where many variables, such as time (2002-2004), and geographic region (Latin American countries) can be held constant for the purpose of isolating the causes of dependent variable changes (Lijphart 1971, 687; Peters 1998, 2). Cases were also selected based upon a control of the first hypothesis (State Capacity and Economic Limitations). This study initially measured and compared across time (2002-2004) many Latin American democracies including: Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru, and Uruguay. This broad selection of Latin American countries increased the possibility for significant generalizations and conclusions later.

To uncover the relationship between these three independent variables and the dependent variable, the government provision of antiretrovirals, data collected is specific to each independent variable and the dependent variable. Furthermore, the first hypothesis served as a control to separate the countries into a paired case study design. In order to formulate this control, the researcher compiled an index of state capacity and economic limitations. This index included three factors: health expenditures (public + private) per capita, gross domestic product per capita, and the number of physicians in country. Each factor was indexed, using developed nations' data as the baseline. This data was drawn from the World Bank's Development Indicators.

After computing the control index data, the researcher determined the most appropriate comparison cases. The researcher compared states with low relative capacity and little action with states with low capacity and unexpectedly high levels in their treatment and therapy of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The usage of developed countries as the baseline prevented the possibility of an absolute low and high capacity paired case study design. Instead as will be seen, the country index data separated case pairs into low and medium capacity states.

HIV/AIDS patients. Similarly, the researcher intends to compare states and higher relative capacity with little action with states with higher relative capacity and expected (positive) direction of their treatment and therapy of HIV/AIDS patients.

After calculating this control, and to measure the second hypothesis, demographic data was collected and analyzed from the World Health Organization (who.int), Pan American Health Organization (paho.org), Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (unaids.org) and each specific country's Ministry of Health or related agency such as the National Program for the Control of AIDS. This infected population was then divided by the total population (taken from the United Nations Population Fund statistics) to generate a descriptive ratio. This descriptive ratio (percentage of infected to total population) is then be compared with the dependent variable.<sup>2</sup> In order to make generalizations, these descriptive ratios were then compared both temporally during the measured interval and spatially among sample countries.

In order to test the third independent variable, this research determines the knowledge of the political elite about HIV/AIDS and/or the benefits of antiretrovirals. Database searches of local and foreign newspapers (Lexis Nexis, Factiva, and Proquest) as well as the World News Connection (the successor to the Foreign Broadcast Information Service) allowed the researcher to collect both the political elites' public statements and acknowledgements of the government policy (such as establishment and funding of HIV/AIDS related commissions) at the time. This data, in turn, was then compared with the international scientific consensus at the time of the measurement. The researcher used qualitative case assessments to analyze each specific country.

Finally, as each of the independent variables was compared with the dependent variable, the percentage of the government provision of antiretrovirals, one should define this variable.

This dependent variable came from either the country's National AIDS Control Program or local

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Due to an absence of data across all countries, this measurement serves as a preliminary step in the impact of stigmatization and the provision of antiretrovirals. As international health monitoring improves, the interested community can narrow this hypothesis from a macro-perspective to a micro-perspective.

Pan American Health Organization resources.<sup>3</sup> Unless noted, this data usually included international donations of antiretrovirals as falling under the government provision of antiretrovirals.

<sup>3</sup> For the dependent variable data (variance in the provision of antiretroviral therapy), see the Appendix, Table 1.

## **5. A DISCUSSION OF LIMITATIONS**

Several limitations arose in this research design and its implementation. First, the large sample size, across time and space, lacked complete data. The researcher's original intent to measure a larger cross sample was not possible. Instead, the researcher narrowed the research to 2002-2004 to begin the process of describing the provision of antiretrovirals among the selected states. Similarly, language constraints limited the researcher in the selection of cases to English and/or Spanish speaking countries. This limitation, removed notable cases, such as Brazil, due to the usage of Portuguese by the Brazilian government and media.

#### 6. COUNTRY DATA

After computing the control index, four countries (Honduras, Nicaragua, Chile, and Colombia) appear suitable for comparison purposes. 4 While two low capacity states (Honduras and Nicaragua) have similar state capacity indexes in 2002 (9.21 and 9.23 respectively), they respond differently in their treatment of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) and specifically their provision of antiretroviral therapy.<sup>5</sup> For example, Honduras improves its

antiretroviral provision from 4% to 30% at the close of 2004, while Nicaragua increases its antiretroviral provision only marginally from 0% to 4%. Similarly, while two medium capacity states (Chile and Colombia) have similar state capacity indexes in 2002 (19.37 and 16.15), they too differ

Table 2: Composite H1 Index (2002-2004)

Country	2002	2003	2004	Average
Argentina	37.46%	37.96%	38.82%	38.08%
Bolivia	8.48%	8.47%	8.56%	8.51%
Brazil	25.02%	24.92%	25.26%	25.07%
Chile	19.37%	18.85%	19.13%	19.12%
Colombia	16.15%	16.17%	16.35%	16.22%
Ecuador	15.82%	15.81%	16.05%	15.89%
El Salvador	15.97%	15.92%	16.03%	15.97%
Guatemala	11.10%	11.06%	11.13%	11.10%
High income	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%
Honduras	9.21%	9.21%	9.32%	9.25%
Mexico	24.84%	24.71%	26.87%	25.47%
Nicaragua	9.23%	16.21%	16.43%	13.96%
Peru	14.01%	14.03%	14.21%	14.08%
Uruguay	42.90%	42.89%	43.97%	43.25%

in their treatment of PLWHA in their respective country. For example, Chile's provision of antiretroviral therapy improves from a high 91% to 100% at the close of 2004, while Colombia's provision improves from only a medium 35% to 47% during the same period. Why do Chile and Colombia, states with relatively similar state capacity, react so differently in their provision of antiretroviral therapy? With these variances in mind, the following discussion will introduce each respective country and relevant historical events related to the HIV/AIDS crisis. It will then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To see the varying degrees of antiretroviral provision, see the Appendix, Table 1. <sup>5</sup> To see a graphical representation of the states as ordered pairs, see Table 3 in the Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As was noted earlier, the use of developed countries in the computation of the index and the absence of developed countries in the sample prevented a true high-low comparison across states. Instead, the researcher separated the countries into low and medium capacity and compared their responses accordingly.

test the previously mentioned hypotheses, and will seek to provide a path for discussion in the analysis.

#### a. Honduras

In 1984, Honduran authorities recognized the first case and subsequent death due to HIV/AIDS in a female prostitute. Five years later, in September 1989, these authorities had documented 334 cases of AIDS (Beach R, et. Al). The number of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) in Honduras continued to swell. By 1992, the Pan American Health Organization projected the number of PLWHA in Honduras had ballooned to 50,000 with 2,187 officially reported cases of AIDS (Luxner 1992:A1). Essentially, with 20 percent of Central America's population, Honduras accounted for 60% of the AIDS patients (Wilkinson 1993:1). Initial data suggested the HIV/AIDS primary impact upon two cities, Tegucigalpa and San Pedro Sula, and certain occupations, including factory and personal service workers, traders, and agricultural workers were particularly affected (Mario 1993). Experts, at the time, expected this population to swell to a staggering level of between 93,000-107,000 in 1995, and 151,000-230,000 by 2000 (Nunez 1993).

By 1996, 995 Hondurans had died due to complications of the HIV/AIDS Virus (Winslow 1996: 17). While Honduran health authorities suggested that the number officially infected was 7300, external health experts assumed a much higher percentage in their calculations of the epidemiology of HIV/AIDS in Honduras. These experts believed that the number of PLWHA in Honduras could climb to 90,000 when all the infected population is accounted for and asked that Honduras recognize the national threat to their country (Quintanilla 1996: 7A). Furthermore, AIDS workers criticized the government for its lack of a national program, indicating that the responsibility often falls upon poorly equipped volunteers (Farah 1997: A12). As a response, the Honduran government soon initiated a campaign of prevention

and the use of condoms. Conservative groups and the Catholic Church criticized this effort, and instead suggested fidelity and abstinence would curtail the epidemic (La Prensa 1997: 16).

In January 1998, Carlos Roberto Flores of the Liberal Party of Honduras (PLH)<sup>7</sup> was inaugurated as Honduras's president. His margin of victory over the National Party's (PNH)<sup>8</sup> candidate Nora Gunera de Melgar was 10% and he became Honduras's fifth democratically elected President since the restoration of free elections. Later in 1998, the Joint U.N. Program on AIDS (UNAIDS) launched a pilot program to provide antiretroviral therapy to 30,000 HIV-positive women in eleven pilot countries, including Honduras (Capdevila 1998: 1). UNAIDS indicated that besides infrastructure, Honduras had the political will and understanding to implement the program nationally. Besides the launch of this antiretroviral initiative, the Honduran Ministry of Health began a program, entitled "The Community Project and Social Mobilization of Juvenile Adolescents in the fight against AIDS" in 1999<sup>9</sup>. According to Carlos Bennaton, Regional Health Director, the Honduran authorities began to promote faithfulness and abstinence as means to "avoid the contagion" (Agence France-Presse 1999). This promotion came despite their earlier attempts at condom promotion and in light of criticism from the Catholic Church in Honduras.

In 2001, in a U.N. negotiation concerning the further implementation of antiretroviral therapy, Honduran non governmental organizations and activists were excluded from participating by the Honduran government (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>a</sub> Agence France Presse 2001<sub>b</sub>). In the same year, Honduran officials petitioned to become the Central American center for vaccine research (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>c</sub>; Efe News Services 2001<sub>a</sub>).

In November of 2001, following the September 11 terrorist attacks and in front of the United Nations, Honduras's Secretary of State, Roberto Flores Bermudez, indicated that AIDS,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Partido Liberal de Honduras (PLH)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Partido Nacional de Honduras (PNH)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "Proyecto Comunitario y Movilacion Social Juvenil-Adolescente en la Lucha Contra el sida"

poverty, and illiteracy threaten the peace as much as terrorism (Efe News Services 2001<sub>b</sub>). In late November 2001, Honduras held presidential and parliamentary elections. In these elections the PNH candidate, Ricardo Maduro Joest, defeated the PLH candidate, Rafael Pineda Ponce. The later on inauguration of Maduro in January 2002 was the third successful transfer of power between Honduras's political parties (Taylor Robinson 2003).

By the end of 2001, the United Nations expected 12,000 Honduran children to become orphans annually, losing their parents to the HIV/AIDS virus (El Mundo 2001: 3). At the time, the Honduran government approved a national budget with the inclusion of three million lempiras (\$192,000) for antiretroviral treatment for their estimated 63,000 HIV/AIDS carriers (Agence France Press 2001<sub>d</sub>; Efe News Services 2001<sub>c</sub>). Vice-minister Rocio Tabora designated the emergency funds for 900 patients in public hospitals as "the problem of AIDS in our country is serious" (Agence France Presse 2002a).

As 2002 started, HIV/AIDS had caused 30,000 deaths in Honduras since the first in 1985 (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>a</sub>). In February 2002, the Vice President Armida de Lopez and the Minister of Health, Elmer Lizardo, announced the future construction of the regional center (known later as the National AIDS Forum) to investigate and prevent AIDS in Central America (Efe News Services 2002<sub>a</sub>; Agence France Presse 2002<sub>b</sub>). In their announcement, they stated that "treatment for AIDS should climb to all levels" and Honduras would equip it with necessary technology to look for a vaccine and other scientific work. In March, U.N. Secretary General Kofi Annan participated with Honduran president Ricardo Maduro in the inauguration of the National AIDS Forum (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>c</sub>; Efe News Services 2002<sub>b</sub>; Agence France Presse 2002<sub>d</sub>). In describing the Forum, Maduro depicted it as a "new instance in our war against AIDS" (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>c</sub>). At the same meetings, the Honduran Minister of Health

expressed his concern over the economic and social devastation that the epidemic was causing (Efe News Services 2002<sub>c</sub>).

In the spring of 2002, a high court in Honduras ordered the Honduran Federal Government to pay 741,000 dollars to a patient who contracted the HIV/AIDS virus after a blood transfusion while at a state hospital (Deutsche Presse Agentur 2002; Agence France Presse 2002<sub>f</sub>)<sup>10</sup>. Around the same time, four European countries announced their willingness to collaborate with Central American countries including Honduras (Agence France 2002<sub>g</sub>). In May of 2002, the World Bank announced a credit of \$27 million for Honduras to allow the Honduran poor more access to treatment (Efe News Services 2002<sub>d</sub>).

By the summer of 2002, Honduran officials estimated that about 60,000 Hondurans (about 1% of the population) were infected, with 13,000 officially recognized (Agence France 2002<sub>h</sub>). In related announcements, the nongovernmental organization PASCA estimated that 60 percent of young adult deaths in 2010 will be attributed to AIDS (Nunez et al 2002). In announcing this data, the Honduran government sustained criticism from local organizations within Honduras. Allan Dunaway, president of the National Association of People living with AIDS in Honduras<sup>11</sup>, in noting the temporary nature of many campaigns, blamed the Catholic Church's influence and its promotion of abstinence campaigns on the ineffectiveness of enforcing certain legislation.

In September of 2002, Honduras's first lady attended a summit in Mexico focusing on poverty, and related issues like AIDS, in Latin America (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>i</sub>). This summit was followed by another in November of 2002, this time held in Honduras. This international meeting concerned the establishment of the Free Trade Area in the Americas<sup>12</sup>, its effect upon access to treatment and medicine, and the impact of intellectual property

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The Honduran government eventually agreed with this assessment and paid this indemnity in January 2003.

<sup>11 (</sup>la Asociación Nacional de Personas Viviendo con Sida en Honduras) 12 "el Área de Libre Comercio de las Americas (ALCA)

enforcement upon public health (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>k</sub>). Several organizations suggested that this agreement and the intellectual property enforcement would reduce Honduras's ability to utilize generic antiretroviral treatment (Agence France Press 2002<sub>l</sub>).

By late November, the United Nations has acknowledged treatment progress, but also suggested that the AIDS epidemic in Latin America could reach the rate of Sub-Saharan Africa (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>l</sub>). Immediately following this report, the Honduran government announced two new national strategies, "Against Stigma and Discrimination...Live and Let Live" and the "National Strategic Plan in the Fight Against AIDS and the "National Strategic Plan in the Fight Against AIDS and the understand the treatment of the already infected Honduran population, a majority of whom are in the economically active period (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>m</sub>; Efe News Services 2002<sub>f</sub>). The Catholic Church followed this report with statements indicating the inadequacy of prevention regimens utilizing condoms, but also supporting the development of a medicine bank within the Catholic Church (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>m</sub>).

In December 2002, the United Nations approved a donation of \$41 million for the fight of AIDS and other diseases within Honduras (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>n</sub>). In accepting the grant, Honduran president, Maduro, noted that "I am sure that together we are going to conquer this disease." In late 2002, the Honduran commission revealed that few Honduran youth receive any sex education and that 30% of the infected are between 14 and 24. The Honduran Congress also expressed their hope in a law allowing the creation of the National AIDS Commission. <sup>15</sup> At the close of 2002, approximately 60,000 of 6,700,000 Hondurans, or .90% of its citizens were

<sup>13 &</sup>quot;Contra el estigma y la discriminación...vive y deja vivir."

<sup>14 &</sup>quot;Plan estratégico Nacional de Lucha contra el SIDA"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> La Comisión Nacional del sida

infected with the HIV/AIDS virus (UNFPA 2002). Of those PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy, approximately 4% received it.<sup>16</sup>

In late January 2003 and alongside other Central American officials, the Advisor to the Minister of Health in Honduras, Humberto Cosenza, signed an accord with five pharmaceutical manufacturers to reduce their prices by 55% (Efe News 2003<sub>b</sub>; Deutsche Presse Agentur 2003; Munoz 2003.) According to a ministry official, the new prices would increase significantly the number of persons who could receive antiretroviral treatment. In return, the governments pledged to prevent these drugs from being diverted for sale outside of the region.

In April 2003, following criticism from Agua Buena, a nongovernmental organization based in Costa Rica, the Honduran government announced a plan to distribute 2 million condoms during the Semana Santa vacation period (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>a</sub>). At the close of the month, the Honduran government agreed to participate in "Programa Esther", a program initiated by Spain, France, Italy, and Luxembourg to promote technical cooperation between Latin American countries and the fight against AIDS. (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>b</sub>)

In early summer of 2003, the First Lady of Honduras in a visit to Spain in a plea for further assistance and funding of antiretroviral treatment noted that "there is a high percentage of the population between 20 and 40 years that die of AIDS (Efe News Services 2003<sub>c</sub>). In the months following this visit, the Honduran government revised earlier estimations, and suggested that 27,000 children will become orphans annually by 2005 (Leiva 2003). A survey taken at the same time of seventeen key stakeholders ranked the government national response at an effective rate of 59% (Rivera et al 2004). By October, U.N. experts had estimated that the average Honduran's life expectancy had been reduced from 70 to 31 years because of the disease (Associated Press 2003). By the close of 2003, according to Honduran authorities,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For a complete list of antiretroviral variance for Honduras and other Latin American countries, see the Appendix Table 1.

approximately 63,000 of 6,900,000, or .91% of its citizens, were infected (UNFPA 2003). Of the PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy, approximately 17% received it.

By the summer of 2004, the incidence of HIV/AIDS continued to climb, especially among Honduran prostitutes of which 10% had been infected with HIV/AIDS (La Opinion 2004). A survey of the Honduran north coast indicated that stigmatization was thwarting prevention efforts (AIDS Weekly 2004.) The authors of the study indicated that "questions of power, sexuality, and affective expectations about partners complicate the situation for women" seeking to avoid HIV/AIDS infection. Following this survey in August 2004, the Honduran government officially recognized three homosexual organizations (Efe News Services 2004<sub>a</sub>). With this recognition, the government essentially strengthened their efforts in the fight against AIDS.

In November of 2004, the Honduran Ministers of Health and Defense, signed an accord with UNAIDS to further work towards reducing the risk of HIV infection among the Honduran military (Efe News Services 2004<sub>b</sub>). By late November, the Honduran representative to UNICEF warned that without further prevention and treatment efforts, Honduras could follow the Africa and its devastation caused by the HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2004). According to Honduran authorities, approximately 66,000 of 7,100,000, or .93% were infected with the HIV/AIDS virus (UNFPA 2004). Of the PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy, approximately 30% received antiretroviral therapy. Of the suspected 66,000 cases, most were between the ages of 15 and 49 (Efe News Services 2004<sub>c</sub>). The International Labor Organization estimated that 53% of those affected worked in the service area. In December 2004, UNAIDS estimated that 37,000 children in Honduras could become orphans by 2010 (Efe News Services 2004<sub>d</sub>).

In sum, one first notes that the provision of antiretroviral therapy in Honduras changed significantly during the measured years from 4% in 2002 to 30% in 2004. Despite this increase, one observes that the state capacity index only fluctuated slightly from 9.21% to 9.32% during the period. Similarly, one also observes that the number of people living with HIV/AIDS in Honduras increased by only 6,000 from 2002 to 2004, or a change of .90% to .93%. Finally, Honduran officials understanding of the HIV/AIDS situation shifted from "Mixed Awareness" to "Highly Aware." In other words, the political leadership moved from some inconsistency and inaccuracy in the public statements and actions, to more consistency and accuracy concerning the HIV/AIDS situation in Honduras. This shift coincided with the increase in the provision of antiretroviral therapy among those in need.

**Table 3: Summary of Situation in Honduras** 

	2002	2003	2004
DV: Provision of Antiretroviral Therapy (ART	<u> </u>	•	
Percentage In Need Receiving ART	4%	18%	30%
H1: Control (State and Economic Capacity)			
Index	9.21%	9.21%	9.32%
H2: Electoral Accountability: Role of Stigma			
People Living With HIV/AIDS (PLWHA)	60,000	63,000	66,000
Population Size	6,700,000	6,900,000	7,100,000
Percentage of Overall Population Infected	0.90%	0.91%	0.93%
H3: Epistemic and Political Coordination			
Political Understanding	Mixed Awareness	Highly Aware	Highly Aware

## b. Nicaragua

The Nicaraguan authorities recognized the first case and subsequent death of HIV/AIDS in 1987. In the years following this recognition and despite widespread poverty and overall public health ignorance among the general population, official Nicaraguan acknowledgement of HIV/AIDS as a relevant issue was limited. International organizations attempted to recognize Nicaraguan HIV/AIDS concerns, and reverse the initial negative trend. Internationally sponsored surveys taken during this period indicated that knowledge regarding HIV/AIDS prevention and treatment was particularly low in Nicaragua (Medrano et al 1993; Espinoza 1993). At the time, the Pan-American Health Organization predicted that Nicaragua could register 25,000 cases by 2000 (Agence France Presse 2000<sub>a</sub>). Besides this epidemiological estimate, internationally supported economic models suggested that HIV/AIDS infection could cause a 60-70% decline in a worker's lifetime productivity, as well as increased health and funeral expenses (Siegel 1996).

In August of 2000, the Ministry of Health in Nicaragua asserted that there were only 378 cases of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) in Nicaragua (Agence France Presse 2000<sub>a</sub>). This assertion came despite earlier claims by PAHO and then current claims by a non governmental organization, La Fundacion Nimehuatzin. This organization estimated that there were 40,000 unregistered cases in Nicaragua, which the Nicaraguan Health Minister, Mariangeles Arguello, deemed as simply "incorrect." By November of the same year, the Nicaraguan government had revised these figures to 550 cases of AIDS, of which 132 had died (Agence France Presse 2000<sub>b</sub>). The director of the Fundacion Nimehuatzin, a winner of a UN Prize for the fight against AIDS, clashed with this assessment stating that "the incomprehension, discrimination, and rejection that exists among the same authorities impede knowing the real" truth and providing adequate infrastructure with the epidemic.

By May of 2001, the Nicaraguan government reported that documented cases of AIDS had increased by 166% over the preceding year (Efe News Services 2001<sub>a</sub>). Following this slight upward revision, experts from many Central American countries, including Nicaragua, participated in the launching of negotiations to secure better access to AIDS medications (Efe News Services 2001<sub>b</sub>). In late June, the Nicaraguan Health Minister, Mariangeles Arguello, declared that "At least for now, we have a unique window" to contain this epidemic (Efe News Services 2001<sub>c</sub>). By then, Nicaraguan authorities had registered 688 people with the HIV/AIDS virus, of which 174 had died since the first registration in 1987. In November 2001, Nicaragua held its fourth "free and fair" elections since 1990. Enrique Bolaños of the Constitutional Liberal Party (PLC)<sup>17</sup> was elected as president, defeating the Sandinista National Liberation Front's (FSLN)<sup>18</sup> candidate, Daniel Ortega. Despite initial promising polling data, Ortega could not overcome the PLC candidate who won their third consecutive presidential election (Stahler-Sholk 2003; Anderson and Dodd 2002). During Bolaños's campaign, he distanced himself from his predecessor, Aleman, and charges of corruption within the Aleman government.

By early February of 2002, the Nicaraguan government announced a health plan that gave preference to Nicaraguans in the poorest territories (Efe News Services 2002<sub>a</sub>). This plan sought to promote the treatment and prevention of HIV/AIDS on a national scale. By December 2002, Nicaragua had registered 957 cases of HIV/AIDS with 227 people having died from the disease (Xinhua News Agency 2002). These 957 cases represented .02% of Nicaragua's 5,300,000 citizens. Of the Nicaraguans in need of antiretroviral therapy, none received it (UNFPA 2002).<sup>19</sup>

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Partido Liberal Constitucionalista (PLC)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Frente Sandinista de Liberación Nacional (FSLN)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> For a complete list of antiretroviral variance for Nicaragua and other Latin American countries, see the Appendix Table 1.

In late January 2003, the Nicaraguan Minister of Health, Lucio Salvo, along with other Central American Ministers of Health, signed an accord with pharmaceutical manufacturers to reduce the price of antiretroviral therapy (Efe News 2003<sub>a</sub>; Deutsche Presse Agentur 2003; Munoz 2003.) According to a ministry official, the new prices would increase significantly the number of persons who could receive antiretroviral treatment. In return, the governments pledged to prevent these drugs from being diverted for sale outside of the region. In March of 2003, the Adjunct Secretary General of the United Nations, Thoraya Obaid, warned that the United Nations millennium goals would not be met unless "we occupy ourselves with problems of population and reproductive health" (Efe News Services 2003<sub>b</sub>). This announcement foreshadowed an April 2003 declaration by the World Bank that warned that countries like Nicaragua were at great risk not to meet the Millennium Challenge of Education and Health (La Republica 2003).

In June 2003, the Nicaraguan president, Enrique Bolaños, noted that "we are going to guarantee...the access to medicine through the use of generics, prevention, and attention with an emphasis on diseases...like AIDS (Xinhua 2003<sub>a</sub>).<sup>20</sup>" In July 2003, a representative to the Pan-American Health Organization, Patricio Rojas, warned that if Nicaragua did not take appropriate action, they would "produce the same incidence rates as Honduras." (Xinhua 2003<sub>b</sub>). At the same time, the executive director of the Center for Information and Advisorial Services in Health<sup>21</sup>, Ana Quiroz, admitted that the Nicaraguan government would not reduce poverty by 2013 (Xinhua 2003<sub>c</sub>). In turn, Quiroz suggested that this poverty would invariably advance health problems such as the spread of HIV/AIDS.

In August 2003, the Nicaraguan association of National Educators released a manual for sexual education that promoted sexual abstinence, the use of contraceptives, and the prevention

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Vamos a garantizar...el acceso de medicamentos con el uso de genéricos, prevención, y atención con énfasis en patologías como...VIH-SIDA." <sup>21</sup>"la directora ejecutiva del Centro de Información y Servicios de Accesoria en Salud (CISAS)

of the HIV/AIDS Virus (Xinhua 2003<sub>d</sub>). In September 2003, the minister of Industry, Construction, and Commerce, Mario Arana, noted that the Nicaraguan government supported the position of the World Trade Organization that the poor countries deserved the ability to import cheap generic drugs (Xinhua 2003<sub>e</sub>).

By October 2003, Nicaragua had registered 1099 cases of the HIV/AIDS virus, of which 248 had died. Of the total, 469 had acquired the disease through mother-to-child transmission (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>a</sub>). The Medical advisor to the Ministry of Health, Oscar Jarquin, admitted that there existed a sub-registry of people infected that were unregistered. He attributed this to a lack of information in the population and the fear of social discrimination.

In the same month, at the Third Central American Congress of AIDS in Panama, regional nongovernmental organizations and activists discussed the state of rights and treatment for those infected by the HIV/AIDS virus. The vice-president of the Organizing committee praised countries such as Panama and Honduras for their treatment efforts, but called the quantity provided by Nicaragua "ridiculous" (Efe News Services 2003<sub>c</sub>). At the same Congress, the Nicaraguan delegate Oscar Jarquin along with other Central American Ministers, signed a declaration that vowed to "reactivate our war for controlling and reversing the epidemic of HIV/AIDS" (Efe News Services 2003<sub>e</sub>).

By the close of 2003, the Nicaraguan government recognized 1,167 of 5,500,000 Nicaraguans, or .02% of its citizens infected with the HIV/AIDS virus (UNFPA 2003). It also suggested that there existed 6 or 7 times that many that have not been acknowledged (Agence France 2003<sub>b</sub>). About 2% of PWLHA in need of antiretroviral therapy received it. La Fundacion Xochiquetzal estimated that the quantity of infected persons was more than 40,000. According to their estimations, the Nicaraguan government must "multiply the number of registered cases by 50" in order to realize the true extent of the epidemic. A director of

epidemiology, Juan Jose Amador, paralleled this assessment, noting his fear of the existence of a sub-registry that distorts the accuracy of official government data (Xinhua 2003<sub>f</sub>). The news of these acknowledgements was followed by the release of a U.N. study that indicated that 41% of PLWHA in Managua, the capital of Nicaragua, have little or no accurate knowledge about the HIV/AIDS disease (Efe News Services 2003<sub>f</sub>).

In February 2004, the Nicaraguan Center for Human Rights<sup>22</sup> cited the Nicaraguan government as the "principal violator of human rights" and noted how the lack of essential medicines affects the entire population (Xinhua 2004<sub>a</sub>). By May of 2004, the Nicaraguan minister of Health, Jose Alvarado, blamed the slight rise in PLWHA to loose international borders and Central American cargo transports (Xinhua 2004<sub>b</sub>). To circumvent this rise, the Minister declared that the Nicaraguan Ministry of Health was "making contacts with the ministries of Health of Honduras and Costa Rica" in order to coordinate their fight against HIV/AIDS.

In the summer of 2004, the Center for Investigation in Demography, Health, and Horizontal Programs<sup>23</sup>, released a study suggesting that 75% of the youth in the north and central zones of Nicaragua have a high knowledge about HIV/AIDS (Xinhua News Agency 2004<sub>c</sub>). Shortly thereafter this promising development, the director of the Procuraduria de los Derechos Humans, Flor Ruiz, indicated that the Nicaraguan centers for Health and Hospitals did not have sufficient equipment and materials (Xinhua 2004<sub>d</sub>). In turn, doctors and auxiliary personal were often unnecessarily exposed to diseases such as HIV/AIDS.

In the fall of 2004, the President of Nicaragua released a plan which targeted persons 18-30 on a variety of issues including the prevention of AIDS (Xinhua 2004<sub>e</sub>). One week later, the Nicaraguan government presented their National Plan for Health for 2004-2015. Specific to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>"El Centro Nicaragüense de Derechos Humanos (CENIDH)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>"La Fundación Puntos de Encuentros el Centro de Investigaciones en Demografía y Salud y el Programa Horizontes."

HIV/AIDS situation, the plan sought to increase access and the quality of services of HIV/AIDS treatment (Efe News Services 2004<sub>a</sub>; Xinhua News Agency 2004<sub>f</sub>.). By the close of 2004, the Nicaraguan authorities recognized 1500 HIV/AIDS cases, or approximately .03% of its population (UNFPA 2004). About 4% of the recognized PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy received it. UNAIDS estimated Nicaragua's HIV/AIDS prevalence at 6300 Nicaraguans (UNAIDS 2004).

In sum, one first notices that the provision of antiretroviral therapy in Nicaragua barely increased from 0% to 4% during the period. During the same period, its capacity increased due to an improvement in its health infrastructure. Also, the Nicaraguan government acknowledged an increase of 543 people living with HIV/AIDS in Nicaragua. Finally, the Nicaraguan government's understanding of the HIV/AIDS situation improved from "Not Aware" to "Mixed Awareness." Basically, the accuracy of the actions and statements of the Nicaraguan government improved, but still remained highly irregular and inaccurate in certain situations. For example, the government did not accept international estimates at the extent of the crisis and did not adequately protect its system responders.

Table 4: Summary of Situation in Nicaragua

	2002	2003	2004
DV: Provision of Antiretroviral Therapy (ART)	•	•	
Percentage In Need Receiving ART	0%	2%	4%
H1: Control (State and Economic Capacity)			
Index	9.23%	16.21%	16.43%
H2: Electoral Accountability: Role of Stigma			
People Living With HIV/AIDS (PLWHA)	957	1,167	1,500
Population Size	5,300,000	5,500,000	5,600,000
Percentage of Overall Population Infected	0.02%	0.02%	0.03%
H3: Epistemic and Political Coordination			
Political Understanding	Not Aware	Mixed Awareness	Mixed Awareness

## c. Chile

Chilean health authorities reported the first case of HIV/AIDS in 1984 (Arredondo et al. 1993). By 1989 and in response to the burgeoning regional and international epidemic, the Chilean Health Ministry required an AIDS antibody test for foreigners wanting to stay in Chile for more than six months. At the time, Chile had registered 103 people with AIDS, 43 of which had died (Reuters 1988). Beginning in 1991, the Chilean National AIDS Commission (CONASIDA) launched successive campaigns designed to increase risk awareness (Child et al 1998).

By 1997, AIDS was the fifth leading cause of death among Chilean men and eleventh leading cause of death among women, aged 20 through 44 (Ortiz et al 2000). In 1998, UNAIDS launched a pilot program to provide antiretroviral therapy to 30,000 HIV-positive women in eleven pilot countries, including Chile (Capdevila 1998: 1; Brown 1997:A02). In the awarding of the antiretroviral program, UNAIDS indicated that besides infrastructure, Chile had the political will to implement the program nationally. By 1999, many these pilot countries including Chile, reported progress on their drug access initiatives (Sturchio 1999). Initial and subsequent runoff elections for president were held in December 1999 and January 2000 (Hughes and Parsons 2003; Talavera 2000). Ricardo Lagos Escobar of the Christian Democrat Party (PDC)<sup>24</sup> narrowly won the election over Joaquin Lavin of the Alliance for Chile party (APC)<sup>25</sup>. His victory marked the third consecutive victory for the Concertacion coalition and the election of a different party's candidate within that coalition.

Despite this initial momentum, Chile had not completely curtailed the HIV/AIDS situation in its treatment and prevention programs. For example, in November 2000, while the HIV/AIDS experts praised the Brazilian government's treatment model and their relationships

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Partido Democrata Cristiano (PDC)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Alianza pro Chile (APC)

with the AIDS community and Catholic Church, the Chilean prevention and treatment model was criticized (Efe News 2000). An envoy likened the word "condom" in Chile to a profanity. Similarly at an international HIV/AIDS conference, the Chilean government officially recognized the enormous economic impact upon its work force and corporations (Agence France 2001<sub>a</sub>). At the same conference, the Chilean delegation admitted that although "Chile has not made a major answer" to the AIDS situation, it still possessed many new ideas and advanced strategies to combat the HIV/AIDS crisis (Efe News Services 2001<sub>a</sub>). These new ideas and strategies included the importance of maintaining sustained conversations with Brazil in order to study and potentially implement similar programs.

By August of 2001, CONASIDA reported 8,000 cases of AIDS in Chile, with estimates of 30,000 more with the HIV/AIDS virus (Pribble 2001<sub>a</sub>). In September, the Chilean Ministry of Health estimated approximately 5000 Chileans will die annually of AIDS by 2005 (Pribble 2001<sub>b</sub>). Furthermore, it believed AIDS would be the leading cause of death in Chile by 2010. In October 2001, the Chilean Supreme Court overturned an appellate court ruling that the Ministry of Health was obligated to provide antiretroviral therapy to three AIDS patients (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>b</sub>). The following day, the Chilean police detained ten AIDS patients involved in a protest in front of the Chilean Supreme Court in Santiago (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>c</sub>). Their protest originated around the lack of government provision of free antiretroviral therapy. Representing the detained individuals, Vivo Positivo, a non governmental AIDS group, suggested that "It is a fault against the right to life" to not provide this therapy.

By December 2001, the Chilean president Ricardo Lagos proposed a law that established prevention programs and prohibited discrimination against HIV/AIDS patients (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>c</sub>; Efe News Services 2001<sub>b</sub>; Leal 2001). Besides this law, the president announced that the Ministry of Health would completely finance treatment of 3,100 PLWHA, including 140

children and about 100 pregnant women.<sup>26</sup> According to estimates, this treatment regimen would cover approximately 90 percent of those in need of the therapy. Furthermore, the Minister of Health, Michelle Bachelet, indicated that the government had begun conversations with pharmaceutical laboratories in order to reduce the pharmaceutical cost by 25%. At the time, the ministry announced that the Chilean state should both educate the population of their rights and their work, and should promote scientific research into the infection.

By June 2002, the Chilean government further sought to provide access to catastrophic diseases under its Universal Access to Explicit Guarantees Plan proposal (AUGE<sup>27</sup>) (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>a</sub>). For example, Health Minister Osvaldo Artaza announced that 84 percent of HIV/AIDS patients receive free anti-retroviral therapy cocktails (Gonzlez 2002<sub>a</sub>). Artaza continued, noting that under the AUGE plan, "we (the Chilean government) hope that 100 percent of patients will have access to prevention and to anti-retroviral drugs." To finance this plan, the Government proposed new taxes on alcoholic beverages, tobacco, gasoline, and lottery tickets.

By summer of 2002, with support from the enforcement of the past years' anti-discrimination law, the status of discrimination investigations and women's reproductive rights with respect to HIV/AIDS continued to evolve (Gonzlez 2002<sub>b</sub>). For example, two Chilean workers successfully brought litigation against their employers for discrimination based upon their HIV status (Efe News Services 2002<sub>a</sub>). CONASIDA for its part continued its focus on preventing mother-to-child transmission through antiretroviral treatment, and gave reproductive therapy to the affected women.

In the fall of 2002, the Chilean government installed 2000 condom dispensers in universities, bars, discothèques, and movie theaters in further efforts to prevent HIV/AIDS (Efe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> At the time, approximately 80% of Chileans received antiretroviral treatment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Acceso Universal a Garantias Explicitas

News Services 2002<sub>b</sub>). This proactive step would later be criticized by the Catholic Church in Colombia. Following this prevention campaign, the Chilean government agreed to further negotiate for cheaper antiretroviral therapy along with other Andean countries (Efe News Services 2002<sub>c</sub>). At the close of 2002, to mark World AIDS Day the Chilean government called for an end to global discrimination of PLWHA (Xinhua 2002). It also estimated its HIV/AIDS population at 30,000 or .19% of its 15,600,000 citizens (UNFPA 2002). Of the PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy, approximately 91% received it.<sup>28</sup>

In June 2003, the Chilean Government signed a pact with the United Nations Global Fund (Deutsche Presse-Agentur 2003). With this pact, the Global Fund agreed to donate \$38 million for five years, and the Chilean government agreed to purchase antiretroviral treatment for its citizens living with HIV/AIDS. At the ceremony, Chilean president Ricardo Lagos announced that the funds would cover total treatment costs, as well as prevention efforts. Also in June, the Chilean government along with its Andean neighbors successfully negotiated with the seven manufactures of generic antiretrovirals, and one manufacturer of brand name drugs for further price reductions in the antiretroviral treatment regimen (AIDS Weekly 2003). This agreement fulfilled Chile's 2002 pledge and saved the region as a whole approximately \$120 million a year, or about 150,000 annual antiretroviral treatments.

In late October 2003, the Chilean government expressed its concern over several television channels refusal to air upcoming government-sponsored prevention commercials (Xinhua News 2003<sub>a</sub>). These commercials angered certain conservative television channels for their promotion of condom use to prevent diseases like HIV/AIDS. By December 2003, conservative groups and the Catholic Church in Chile were openly criticizing the condom promotion campaigns. For instance, the Catholic Church indicated that the campaigns "generate

 $<sup>^{28}</sup>$  For a complete list of antiretroviral variance for Chile and other Latin American countries, see the Appendix Table 1.

a false sense of security" (Agence France Presse 2003; Xinhua News Agency 2003<sub>b</sub>). Despite these criticisms, the Chilean government voted to "neither quit, nor change" the campaign and instead questioned the validity of their opponents efforts (Xinhua News Agency 2003<sub>c</sub>). In their defense, the Chilean government cited scientific studies that demonstrated that condoms have an effectiveness of 95%, and rejected the Chilean Catholic Church's assertion that there effectiveness is only 80% (Xinhua News Agency 2003<sub>d</sub>). Finally, it revised downward its HIV/AIDS estimates to 26,000 of 15,800,000 Chileans (.16%)(UNAIDS 2004; UNFPA 2003).

In May of 2004, Chilean officials met with other Mercosur neighbors to discuss HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2004). In the same month, a nongovernmental organization released a study that showed the unauthorized sterilization of 12 women infected with the HIV/AIDS virus (UPI Chile 2004<sub>a</sub>). Upon this release, Chilean officials immediately pledged an investigation and denounced the forced sterilization. By late June of 2004, further criticism of the Chilean government had emerged. At the time, the NGO Vivo Positivo accused the state agency, CONASIDA, of negligence in its provision of antiretroviral therapy for the current quarter (Xinhua News Agency 2004<sub>a</sub>). According to Vivo Positivo, hospitals gave certain patients a prescription that lasted only three days after which they needed to return to the hospital to refill the prescription. The Chilean Minister of Health immediately admitted this deficit and pledged to investigate the situation internally. (UPI Chile 2004<sub>b</sub>).

One year after the Global Fund Initiative in October 2004, the Chilean Minister of Health stressed the importance and responsibility of Chilean citizens to take adequate prevention methods before they become infected with HIV/AIDS (UPI Chile 2004<sub>c</sub>). In evaluating the program, the Global Fund representative, Aleph Henestrosa, praised Chile's efforts, suggesting that it "has all of the elements needed to win the fight against AIDS" (Estrada 2004). Henestrosa

continued that "the government, civil society, and people with HIV/AIDS are working side by side extremely well. In addition, President Ricardo Lagos is fully committed to this issue."

By December 2004, United Nations reports estimated that the number of PLWHA in Chile had risen to 50,000 of 16,000,000 Chileans (.31%) (UPI Chile 2004<sub>d</sub>; UNFPA 2004). Of the PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy, 100% received it. The number of women infected continued to climb so that 1 of every 7 PLWHA was a woman, dramatically up from 1 in 30 in 1990 (UPI Chile 2004<sub>e</sub>). Forty one percent of the women infected were the head of their respective household (UPI Chile 2004<sub>f</sub>). Concurrent with the release of these statistics, the National Service for Women and the Ministry of Health signed a cooperation accord to reverse this trend and further protect the affected population.

In sum, the Chilean government increased its antiretroviral therapy coverage from 91% to 100% by 2003. During the period, its capacity index fluctuated slightly dropping from 19.37% to 18.85%, before it rebounded to 19.13%. According to the Chilean government and UNAIDS, the number of PLWHA first declined by 4,000, and then soared to 50,000, or .31% of the Chilean population. Finally, during the measured period of 2002-2004, the Chilean government remained consistent in the accuracy of its political statements and actions with respect to the HIV/AIDS situation in Chile.

**Table 5: Summary of Situation in Chile** 

	2002	2003	2004
DV: Provision of Antiretroviral Therapy (ART)	•	•	
Percentage In Need Receiving ART	91%	100%	100%
H1: Control (State and Economic Capacity)			
Index	19.37%	18.85%	19.13%
H2: Electoral Accountability: Role of Stigma			
People Living With HIV/AIDS (PLWHA)	30,000	26,000	50,000
Population Size	15,600,000	15,800,000	16,000,000
Percentage of Overall Population Infected	0.19%	0.16%	0.31%
H3: Epistemic and Political Coordination			
Political Understanding	Highly Aware	Highly Aware	Highly Aware

## d. Colombia

The first reported case of AIDS in Colombia occurred in 1984 (Boshell et. Al 1989). The following year, the Colombian government introduced its National HIV/AIDS Control Program, a program that later suffered widespread criticism for its ineffectiveness (Cespedes et al 1998<sub>a</sub>). By December of 1987, the Colombia Ministry of Health had documented 178 cases of AIDS. By July of 1995, Colombia had the third most AIDS cases in Latin American countries (Garcia et.al 1996). Internal organizations estimated that between 47,000 and 138,000 Colombians could be living with HIV/AIDS (Cespedes et al 1998<sub>b</sub>). With these staggering statistics in mind, several nongovernmental and community organizations successfully lobbied that antiretroviral therapy be added to the Colombian Social Security system (Ardila 1998). Unfortunately when the social security system failed to administer antiretroviral therapy, PLWHA in Colombia began litigation in the legal system in order to receive access (Perfetti 1998).

By late 2000, the Colombian Ministry of Health had detected 22,500 cases of HIV/AIDS in Colombia (Agence France Presse 2000<sub>a</sub>). Medical experts criticized these statistics as misleading and too low, citing in part the existence of HIV/AIDS in zones of Colombia not controlled by the government. Shortly after this announcement, the Ministry of Health estimated that there existed some uncertainty with regards to official HIV/AIDS estimates (Agence France Presse 2000<sub>b</sub>). Overall, the population between 20 and 44 years represented 80 percent of the cases. With these alarming statistics, the Colombian government announced that it would invest \$45 million dollars in prevention programs.

Despite this initial effort, the number of PLWHA in Colombia continued to climb among its vulnerable population (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>a</sub>). For example, the proportion of women with HIV/AIDS had increased from 1 in 47 in 1997, to 1 in 7 in 2001 (Efe News Services 2001<sub>a</sub>). In October 2001, while the Ministers of the Colombian government attended a World Trade

Organization meeting discussing themes such as intellectual property and HIV/AIDS pharmaceuticals, the guerillas FARC ordered HIV/AIDS testing of 4,000 residents in a neutral zone in the South of Colombia (Efe News Services 2001<sub>b</sub>; Efe News Services 2001<sub>c</sub>; Agence France Presse 2001<sub>b</sub>)<sup>29</sup>. At the close of 2001, Colombia still reported only 23, 447 official cases of HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2001<sub>c</sub>).

In May 2002, Alvaro Uribe, a liberal independent heading the coalition Primero Colombia, won the presidential election beating the two major parties (Ulloa 2002; WOLA 2002). During an international AIDS conference in July 2002, UNAIDS officials suggested that without an "effective response", the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Latin America, especially in Colombia, will continue to increase to dangerous levels (Efe News Services 2002<sub>a</sub>). During the same conference, Latin American nongovernmental organizations, including those from Colombia, protested outside of pharmaceutical factories and the conference location because of the lack of antiretroviral therapy for PLWHA (Efe News Services 2002<sub>b</sub>). Later in the same month, Colombian organizations protested and criticized the FARC and the "ultraright's" intimidation of PWLHA in Colombia (Deutsche Presse Agentur 2002).

By August 2002, according to the Colombian Anti-AIDS League (LCLLS), health litigation for access to antiretroviral therapy for PLWHA had increased by more than 400 percent since 2000 (Garca 2002:1). Besides these access claims, the litigants sought access to all antiretroviral medications possible used in HIV/AIDS treatment. At the time, the Colombian government only covered seven of the fourteen drugs normally prescribed. Of these seven omissions, two were often prescribed as part of the most effective regimen.

In September 2002, a meeting of seventy HIV/AIDS experts concluded that 450,000 Colombians could be infected with the HIV/AIDS virus (Efe News Services 2002<sub>c</sub>). These

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Fuerzas Revolucionarías de Colombia

experts criticized the official government statistics for ignoring specific regions and years, calling the HIV/AIDS situation "very grave...and one that needs an effective response before it is too late."

In early November 2002 at a World Trade Organization meeting, several countries including Colombia declared their wish to have "a contact between developed nations and developing nations to acquire medicine" for diseases such as AIDS, malaria, and tuberculosis (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>a</sub>). At the same time, the Colombian government participated in a technical FTAA conference in Honduras to discuss proposals to improve access to essential medicines in Latin America (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>b</sub>). These experts concluded that the FTAA agreement would increase barriers to this access to essential medicines. Shortly after this conference, the Colombian Ministry of Health announced sanctions on several pharmaceutical companies for their poor quality and excessive prices on antiretroviral therapy pharmaceuticals (Efe News Services 2002<sub>d</sub>).

In late November, the Andean Ministers of Health conducted meetings in Lima, Peru to discuss common area policies, including how to improve access to antiretroviral therapy (Efe News Services 2002<sub>e</sub>). According to preceding announcements, the Ministries (including Colombia) "will present mechanisms to successfully lower the cost of antiretroviral therapy" in order that the population of the Andean Community has access to this therapy in their fight against HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2002<sub>e</sub>). These mechanisms included negotiating together to reduce the prices of the antiretroviral therapy (Efe News Services 2002<sub>e</sub>). The Colombian representative justified this commission as "individually nobody has the capacity to act upon the (antiretroviral) market." Following this conference, the Brazilian government announced that it had signed accords with three countries, including Colombia, on sharing its accumulated knowledge on the treatment of PLWHA (Efe News Services 2002<sub>f</sub>; Xinhua News

Agency 2002<sub>b</sub>). By the close of the year, the Colombian official statistics reported 23, 685 PLWHA of its population of 43,500,000 (.05%) (UNFPA 2002). Of the PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy, 35% received it.<sup>30</sup> Unofficial epistemic estimates were approximately 140,000 and 170,000 PLWHA in Colombia (Xinhua News Agency 2002<sub>a</sub>).

In the summer of 2003, the Colombian government participated with its Latin American neighbors in negotiations to reduce the cost of antiretroviral therapy for generic and brand name pharmaceuticals (AIDS Weekly 2003). This agreement saved the region as a whole approximately \$120 million a year, or about 150,000 annual antiretroviral treatments. Besides these negotiations, the Colombian government announced that it waited for pledged HIV/AIDS assistance from the United States (Efe News Services 2003<sub>a</sub>). This assistance had been delayed due to the defeat of an HIV/AIDS prevention amendment in the U.S. House of Representatives.

In October 2003, the Colombian Catholic Church began to voice its concerns over the fight against HIV/AIDS in Colombia (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>a</sub>). The Church likened the use of a condom to one playing Russian roulette, and declared that studies have demonstrated that condoms fail between 15 and 20 % of the time. Immediately following the Colombian cardinal's declaration, the Brazilian Minister of Health, Humberto Costa, likened his comments as "without scientific merit" and affecting the work of prevention of HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>b</sub>). Following this declaration, the governments of Colombia and Brazil signed another accord to work together in the fight against HIV/AIDS in their respective countries (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>c</sub>). Their cooperation would include targeting acquisition of antiretroviral therapy and preventing the spread of HIV/AIDS across their shared border.

In November of 2003, the Colombian government announced that it would donate 70 million condoms in the capital of Colombia (Efe News Services 2003<sub>b</sub>). The campaign "Siempre

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> For a complete list of antiretroviral variance for Colombia and other Latin American countries, see the Appendix Table 1.

condom" targeted colleges, universities, and nightlife locales. Following this announcement, another dire warning came, this time from the Social Protection Ministry at a seminar held in Colombia (Efe News Services 2003<sub>c</sub>). This warning suggested that if further prevention and treatment efforts are not implemented, approximately 800,000 Colombians may become infected by 2010. At the time, the official number of PLWHA was 40, 073 of 44,200,000 Colombians (.09%) Unofficial U.N. estimates located this figure at nearly 225,000. Of the PLWHA, approximately 70% were between the ages of 15 and 35. A representative of the seminar noted the difficulty reaching Catholics, because of their rejection of the condom.

In December 2003, the director of Public Health at the Social Protection Ministry admitted that the government used only 8 of 17 existing medications to control the disease (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>d</sub>). The director also admitted that only 9000 Colombians receive antiretroviral therapy. Following these admissions, UNAIDS launched an aggressive campaign in Colombia, promoting the use of condoms to reduce the spread of HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2003<sub>e</sub>). This campaign targeted the high risk population, and asserted its effectiveness. At the close of 2003, apprehension was spreading that CAFTA and its protection of intellectual property may impede the access of less developed countries acquisition of essential medicines, like antiretroviral therapy (Noticias Finacieras 2003).

In January 2004, the Colombian Cardinal Alfonso Lopez Trujillo again declared the inadequacy of condoms in the prevention of HIV/AIDS (Agence France Presse 2004<sub>a</sub>). The cardinal asserted that Colombian government statements and condom policy "induces promiscuity", especially when "youth have the hope that there is safe (risk-free) sex." By April 2004, the Global Fund had approved a program whose objective is to reduce the vulnerability of 600,000 Colombian youth (Xinhua News Agency 2004<sub>a</sub>). This program would be coordinated

among various branches of Colombian government and with international agencies, such as the United Nations.

In May 2004, the Colombian government promised to defend the access to generic antiretroviral medicines for the Colombian population during trade negotiations (Xinhua News Agency 2004<sub>b</sub>). The Colombian Minister of Commerce, Jorge Humberto Botero, insisted that the importance of intellectual property would not diminish the interest of the Colombian public health.

In August 2004, the Colombian government pledged \$200 million for a HIV/AIDS prevention program (ANSA Noticiero 2004). The funding from this program came from international sources. In late November 2004 and before the International Day of HIV/AIDS, the Colombian Minister of Social Protection reported that there were 40,000 of 42,500,000 Colombians (.09%) infected with HIV/AIDS in Colombia (Xinhua News Agency 2004<sub>c</sub>; Agence France Presse 2004<sub>b</sub>). Forty percent of the PLWHA in need of antiretroviral therapy received it. The Colombian government further estimated that 180,000 Colombians could be infected with HIV/AIDS. Following this news, the Colombian president, Alvaro Uribe, pleaded with his people to continue to work together to prevent this "menace against life and the well being" of the Colombian people (Efe News Services 2004).

In sum, the Columbian government increased its antiretroviral coverage from 35% in 2002 to 47% by the close of 2004. At the same time, its state capacity index improved slightly from 16.15% to 16.35%. Unfortunately, the acknowledged number of PLWHA in Colombia also increased dramatically from 23, 685 to 40,000. Finally, throughout the period its government policy and statements remained mixed, with positive efforts and statements intertwined with inaccurate and ineffective policies. For example, while the Colombian government pledged HIV/AIDS funding and increased prevention programs, it also significantly underestimated the

extent of the HIV/AIDS situation and did not recognize the value of certain antiretroviral therapies.

**Table 6: Summary of Situation in Colombia** 

	2002	2003	2004
DV: Provision of Antiretroviral Therapy (ART)	•	•	
Percentage In Need Receiving ART	35%		47%
H1: Control (State and Economic Capacity)			
Index	16.15%	16.17%	16.35%
H2: Electoral Accountability: Role of Stigma			
People Living With HIV/AIDS (PLWHA)	23,685	40,073	40,000
Population Size	43,500,000	44,200,000	42,500,000
Percentage of Overall Population Infected	0.05%	0.09%	0.09%
H3: Epistemic and Political Coordination			
Political Understanding	Mixed Awareness	Mixed Awareness	Mixed Awareness

#### 7. ANALYSES

Based upon the literature review and the subsequent data, this analysis will explore the merits and relevancy of each derived hypothesis. First, the control hypothesis, state capacity and economic limitations, essentially advanced the notion that the variation in the provision of pharmaceuticals could be attributed to macroeconomic forces. With this hypothesis one would assume that low capacity states would only react marginally, while medium capacity states would react more significantly in the provision of antiretroviral therapy. As one notes from the capacity index, this hypothesis explains some variation in the divergence between low and medium capacity states in Latin America. For instance, no low capacity states have successfully provided universal antiretroviral coverage and all medium capacity states have implemented more than marginal antiretroviral coverage.

While the hypothesis could explain this variance, it does not explain the substantial divergence between the pairs of low capacity states (represented in Honduras and Nicaragua), nor the divergence between the pairs of medium capacity states (represented in Chile and Colombia). For example, Nicaragua's capacity index exceeded Honduras's marginally, while it's provision of antiretroviral therapy significantly fell behind Honduras's, especially in the later years of the research. One can see similar results with the comparison pair of Chile and Colombia. Ultimately, these divergences have allowed the researcher to control for the first hypothesis and search for explanations with fuller explanatory value.

The second hypothesis, electoral accountability and the role of stigma, advanced the notion that governments derive their legitimacy through political participation, such as voting, from the electorate. In return, the political leadership promotes policies beneficial to their constituency. Stigmatized populations, such as those infected by the HIV/AIDS virus, have struggled in gaining suitable electoral momentum to change the political leadership and their

policies. However as the HIV/AIDS population grows, the necessity of securing the electoral support will require that the elected advance favorable policies, such as the provision of antiretroviral therapy.

In the measured cases, this hypothesis has some explanatory power when measuring spatially, but little when measuring temporally. First Honduras's percentage of HIV/AIDS population increased from .90% to .91% to .93%, while Nicaragua's percentage of acknowledged HIV/AIDS population increases only slightly from .02% to .03%. Similarly, Chile's percentage of HIV/AIDS population ranges from .19% to .16% to .31%, while Colombia's percentage of HIV/AIDS population ranges from .05% to .09%. In both cases when measuring spatially, the country with the larger acknowledged HIV/AIDS population were more likely to implement antiretroviral therapy.

However when comparing all four countries to each other, one notices that Honduras's substantial HIV/AIDS prevalence does not automatically produce the leading government response. Instead this response was implemented by Chile. In other words, states with the largest percentage of HIV/AIDS patients will not react with the same level of government provision of essential pharmaceuticals. Secondly, this hypothesis does not hold true when measuring temporally, or across time (2002-2004). For example, Honduras's percentage of HIV/AIDS populations remains the same while its provision of antiretroviral therapy increases substantially through the measured years. Essentially, the decline in HIV/AIDS related mortality and the newly infected HIV/AIDS patients have temporarily negated the improvement in this ratio. Moreover, Chile's percentage of HIV/AIDS population bounces around while the percentage of antiretroviral therapy remains constant. These differences imply that demographic elements alone cannot explain the variance in the level of antiretroviral provision.

The final hypothesis, level of coordination between the epistemic community and the political leadership, yields more promising results in explaining the level of antiretroviral therapy. Basically, this hypothesis suggests that certain political leaders and their associated governments fail to recognize the complexity of HIV/AIDS and antiretroviral therapy. These governments, in turn, fail to undertake appropriate responses to curb the epidemic. After an examination of this hypothesis and a review of the evidence, one notes several primary trends in the level of political understanding and in turn the provision of antiretroviral therapy.

First among the comparison countries, there exists various levels of understanding and acknowledgement as to the extent of the HIV/AIDS crisis in their respective country. This crisis recognition factor varies both temporally and spatially. First, the Honduran government recognized only a fraction of the estimated HIV/AIDS cases in the early stages of the epidemic. Soon, however it reversed itself, and identified a much larger, and closer to international epistemic consensus, HIV/AIDS community. This acknowledgement parallels with its admission of the equally damaging effects of HIV/AIDS, poverty, and terrorism. Overall, this recognition differed from Nicaragua's own admission as to the extent of the crisis. Despite conditions such as extreme poverty, and the general public's low prevention knowledge of HIV/AIDS, Nicaragua continued its original claim of extremely low prevalence rates. This denial differed from estimates and scientific modeling of both international health organizations and national nongovernmental organizations. Nicaraguan authorities admitted this discrepancy eventually, but failed to address it. Instead the Nicaraguan authorities blamed an increase in HIV/AIDS upon international borders and traffic.

On the other hand, one notes similar recognition patterns within the higher capacity countries of Chile and Colombia. By late 2001, the Chilean Health Ministry recognized large

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See conclusions for further discussion on this reversal and the role of change in elected governments with respect to the HIV/AIDS situation.

social and economic toll that HIV/AIDS would soon play, and immediately initiated comprehensive countermeasures of antiretroviral therapy. Its estimates corresponded to scientific consensus at the time. Like Chile, HIV/AIDS threatened the social and economic stability of Colombia and the Colombian government initiated an antiretroviral campaign. However unlike Chile, the Colombian government acknowledged the detection of substantially fewer PLWHA than international scientific estimates suggested. It too admitted this discrepancy in late 2004.

The second trend focuses on their understanding and implementation of both HIV/AIDS prevention and treatment options. First in the late 1990s, Honduran authorities bowed to pressure from conservative entities, such as the Honduran Catholic Church, and began to promote faithfulness and abstinence instead of condoms in their HIV/AIDS prevention efforts. This promotion disagreed with scientific sentiment as to the benefits of condom use, and was eventually reversed in favor of more access to condom use in late 2002. When the issue arose again in 2003, Honduran authorities rebuffed the efforts intent upon diminishing the condom use.

During this period Honduras acknowledged the benefits of antiretroviral therapy, but did not allocate ample funding for their implementation. However beginning in 2001, Honduras allocated funding in the national budget towards the purchase of antiretroviral therapy. In 2002, the country announced the construction of a regional research site. In 2003, they followed this announcement with the implementation of two major national HIV/AIDS strategies. In 2004, Honduran representatives admitted the risk of Honduras following the epidemiological trend of Africa.

Like Honduras, Nicaragua acknowledged publicly the potential benefits of antiretroviral therapy (2003) and proposed their adoption. For instance, the president guaranteed the access to generic medicine that included HIV/AIDS antiretroviral therapy. The Commerce minister voiced similar concerns, this time taking a normative bent and indicating the right of poor

countries to import cheaper generic pharmaceuticals. Despite these affirmations, importation of generic pharmaceuticals did not occur and antiretroviral therapy use in Nicaragua remained virtually nonexistent as the Nicaraguan government continued to mistake the extent of the HIV/AIDS crisis. Dire warnings by organizations such as the United Nations and Pan-American Health Organization were ignored. When Nicaraguan authorities began to make genuine contacts with other Central American ministries, it also continued to inaccurately blame external circumstances such as the porous nature of international borders and an increase in Central American trade. Finally, in late 2004, Nicaraguan officials revealed two major national health plans designed to prevent and treat HIV/AIDS.

In Chile, in terms of prevention, condom use in Chile was limited until late 2000. Like Honduras, the Chilean government modified this policy and offered wide spread access to condoms in their HIV/AIDS prevention efforts. This modification came shortly after the election of the Socialist leader, Ricardo Lagos. Furthermore, the Chilean government did not later bow to the conservative pressure in late 2003 when conservative groups attempted to disrupt government sponsored prevention commercials, characterizing condoms as generating "a false sense of security." Instead the government defended its actions through scientific evidence and rejected the Catholic Church's anecdotal evidence.

In terms of treatment, the Chilean government enacted legislation that prohibited discrimination of HIV/AIDS patients. It established universal access to antiretroviral therapy in the early stages of the crisis, and without excessive delay. It also negotiated the reduction of prices for antiretroviral treatment. Finally, when missteps occurred, as was seen in the sterilization case and the negligent antiretroviral prescriptions, the Chilean government immediately investigated and addressed the claims

Finally, conservative pressure also ballooned in Colombia during the same period. Like Chile and Honduras, the government rejected the Catholic Church's inflammatory statements. Instead with the assistance of Brazil, the Colombian government launched distribution and education programs to promote further condom use. Later, it announced it would donate 70 million condoms to high risk zones, such as colleges and universities.

Like Nicaragua, Colombia guaranteed the right of PLWHA to antiretroviral therapy, but like Nicaragua did not deliver this medication. It mistakenly justified this omission by stating "individually nobody (no single country) has the capacity to act upon the (antiretroviral) market," when other countries such as Brazil, Chile and India were influencing antiretroviral markets. Essentially, Colombia implied that costs delayed their procurement, and that no individual state can act uniquely. Ultimately, this absence of provision forced the infected Colombians to sue for the medication under the Colombia legal system. Lastly, Colombia recognized first the utility of only seven of fourteen, and later only 8 of 17 internationally accepted antiretroviral pharmaceuticals. The Colombian government admitted this omission later in 2003, but did not rectify the omission.

As these brief reviews have demonstrated, there exists a variance of knowledge and political will among the political leadership of the four case countries. First, recognition of the HIV/AIDS crisis in the respective countries varied significantly. The spectrum ranged from Nicaragua in absolute denial to Chile in absolute command. Secondly, all countries initially implemented ill conceived policies in their treatment and prevention of HIV/AIDS. However, the means and methods to rectify these ill conceived policies varied by case country and level of understanding. For instance, Nicaragua continued to deny the accuracy of international epidemiological estimates for its country, while Honduras had accepted these statistics. In terms of the science surrounding antiretroviral data, Colombia rejected the use of nine antiretroviral

therapy combinations, while Chile worked steadfastly towards further procurement and access to its infected population. Ultimately, besides the distribution of condoms, the political leadership demonstrating less understanding provided less antiretroviral therapy for its infected population.

## 8. CONCLUSIONS

While HIV/AIDS damages the strength of national economies, fosters civil unrest, and diminishes the security of nations, state response to this epidemic has varied significantly. Naturally, state capacity and economic capability has affected the ability of the state to treat this epidemic. However as the comparison of the case countries has suggested, domestic resource constraints explain only part of the antiretroviral treatment puzzle. Instead one must recognize how aspects such as the electoral accountability and the role of stigma, as well as the degree of political understanding of the science of HIV/AIDS affect the treatment of people living with HIV/AIDS.

In this research, the demographic element of the HIV/AIDS crisis and its electoral accountability explained a portion in the variance in HIV/AIDS treatment. For instance, countries with low official numbers of people infected with the HIV/AIDS virus were less likely to respond to the disease. However, the validity of this hypothesis weakens when one considers the dispute over the extent of the Nicaraguan HIV/AIDS crisis among Nicaraguan officials and the international community. Essentially, the expected confirmation of tremendous numbers of unaccounted for people living with HIV/AIDS points research further into the alternate explanation of the level of political understanding.

In the case of HIV/AIDS, one notices noteworthy differences among the political understanding of the targeted Latin American countries. In turn, this understanding and misunderstanding has coincided in part with the degree of treatment of HIV/AIDS patients. In addition, this research also suggests further exploration and research into the capacity of local and international NGOs, the role of religion (e.g. the Catholic Church), role of dependency (ideologically and/or trade-related) of state to dominant powers (i.e. the case of Colombia and

the U.S.), and the impact of a change in political leadership and ideology of the administration as potential avenues to affect the HIV/AIDS situation.

For example, a question raised may be: how might a change in the national government and/or its ideologies affect HIV/AIDS policies in areas such as antiretroviral provision? In terms of the case studies, a reversal in antiretroviral provision occurred after the election in Honduras of Ricardo Maduro Joest of the National Party (NP) and the defeat of the Liberal Party (PLH) in 2001. While the other countries conducted elections during this period, these elections did not result in a transfer of power from one governing party/coalition to another. Instead, the new president assumed the presidency as part of the previous governing coalition. While this holds true with the election of Enrique Bolaños Geyer, one notes that Bolaños significantly distanced himself from charges of corruption within the Aleman government and appealed to a wide variety of voters. Moreover, his government charged Aleman with corruption during his subsequent presidency. Unfortunately, the Bolaños's government did not bring forth change in Nicaragua's HIV/AIDS policies, but merely persisted with the status quo. Similarly, the election of Alvaro Uribe Vélez did not coincide with noticeable reforms with respect to Colombia's HIV/AIDS situation. Finally, with the election of Ricardo Lagos in 2000 came improvements in Chile's HIV/AIDS policies and actions. The current case evidence suggests further research is necessary. Other questions that might rise include: How and why do religious authorities impact the delivery and acceptance of technology like antiretroviral therapy? What internal and external factors cause this change?

Besides the implication of this information specific to HIV/AIDS, this research has further consequences for other public health crises, such as increase in incidences of avian bird flu and tuberculosis, as well as the implementation of national policies, such as the recognition of energy deficits and the presence of global warming. In these situations, one would not only

expect a variance in state capacity but also in political understanding among states, and subsequently a variance in the implementation of policy. This variance has potentially devastating consequences when one considers the global integration and effect of these issues. For example, failing to understand scientific evidence as to the causes and consequences of global warming may lead a country to adopt inadequate pollution standards. Consequentially, this knowledge deficit will degrade not only the domestic environment, but that of its neighbors.

With respect to the broader debate in comparative political economy, this research strengthens the notion that capacity alone does not satisfactorily explain state response. In other words, an increase in financial resources or capacity may not increase devotion to a problem. Instead, capacity must be combined with a greater coordination between the scientific community and the political leadership of a country. A greater understanding would enable more effective responses to the crisis from the political leadership. This research also highlights deficiencies in our current understanding of the transmission of this epistemic knowledge. For example, if the international community recognizes these knowledge deficits exist, why could they not impress upon the domestic leadership the importance of an improved understanding? Basically, recognizing the problem does not solve it. Successful links between science and politics must be either strengthened or formed. Finally, this research focuses on a region in the world outside of the normal debate. Typically, Africa and Southeast Asia's extreme and epidemic conditions receive most of the attention. However, this research has shown both the growing concern in Latin America and the possibility to address this concern before the emergence of similar conditions.

Essentially, while states struggle to dramatically improve their state capacity, there exists an opportunity for political science, the scientific and epistemic community to enhance understanding within these states. This enhancement in turn would affect decisions made and the

consequences of those decisions. Naturally, one would expect an improvement in the quality and long-term viability of these decisions. Ultimately, this degree of political understanding has global implications and efforts must be undertaken to strengthen epistemic and political coordination so that appropriate policies may be implemented.

# 9. WORKS CITED

# a. Literature Review

- Abreu, Anabela, Isabel Noguer, and Karen Cowgill. 2003. *HIV/AIDS in Latin American Countries: The Challenges Ahead*. Washington D.C: World Bank.
- Attawell, Kathy and Jackie Mundy. 2003. "Provision of Antiretroviral Therapy in Resource-Limited Settings: A Review of Experience Up to August 2003." WHO and the UK's Department For International Development, www.healthsystemsrc.org, 2003.
- Bale, Harvey E. 1998. "The Conflicts between parallel trade and product access and innovation. The case of pharmaceuticals." *Journal of International Economic Law* 5(4): 637-653.
- Bass, Naomi A. 2002. "Implications of the TRIPs agreement for developing countries:

  Pharmaceutical patent laws in Brazil and South Africa in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century." *The George Washington International Law Review 34*(1):191-223.
- Bate, Roger and Richard Tren. 2004. "The Real Obstacles to Sound Treatment of AIDS in Poor Countries." The American Enterprise Institute, <a href="http://www.aei.org/publications/pubID.20841/pub\_detail.asp">http://www.aei.org/publications/pubID.20841/pub\_detail.asp</a> 2004.
- Bhalla, A.S. and Dilmus James. 1988. New *Technologies and Development: Experiences in "Technology Blending"*. Boulder, Colorado, Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Block, Robert & Gardiner Harris. 2001. "Drug makers agree to Drop South African Suit- Bad PR over AIDS Quells Effort to Defend Patents: Pretoria Concedes Little." Wall Street Journal 19 April 2001:A12.
- Braga, Carlos A. Primo & Carsten Fink. 1998. "Reforming Intellectual Property Rights Regimes: Challenges for Developing Countries." *Journal of International Economic Law*: 537-554.
- Bridgstock, Martin, David Burch, John Forge, John Lament, and Ian Lane. 1998. *Science, Technology, and Society*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Chequer, Pedro, Paoma Cuci, Rafael Mazin, and Jena M. Garcia Calleja.2002 "Access to Antiretroviral Treatment in Latin American Countries and the Caribbean." *AIDS* 2002: 550-557.
- Clarke, Robin. 1985. *Science and Technology in World Development*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cohen, Jon. 2002. "Confronting the Limits of Success." Science 296(5577):2320.
- Cole, Leonard A. 1983. *Politics and the Restraint of Science*. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld.

- Collins, Tracy. 2001. "The pharmaceutical companies versus AIDS victims: A classic case of bad versus good? A look at the struggle between international intellectual property rights and access t to treatment." *Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce* 29(1):159-183.
- Cullet, Phillipe. 2003. "Patents and medicines: the relationship between TRIPS and the human right to health." *International Affairs* 79(1):139-160.
- Diamond, Larry. 2002. "Thinking about Hybrid Regimes." *Journal of Democracy* 13: 21-35.
- Diamond, Larry, Jonathan Hartlyn, Juan J. Linz, and Seymour Martin Lipset, eds. 1999. *Democracy in Developing Countries: Latin America*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Dixon, Simon, Scott McDonald, and Jennifer Roberts. 2002. "The Impact of HIV and AIDS on Africa's Economic Development." *British Medical Journal* 324:232-234.
- Downs, Anthony. 1957. An Economic Theory of Voting. Harper & Power: New York, NY.
- Durbin, Paul T. 1980. A guide to the Culture of Science, Technology, and Medicine. New York: The Free Press.
- FAO Committee on World Food Security. 2001. "The Impact of HIV/AIDS on Food Security." Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Grubb, Ian, Jos Perriens, and Bernhard Schwartlander 2003. A Public Health Approach to Antiretroviral Treatment: Overcoming Constraints. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Haacker, Marcus. 2004. The Macroeconomics of HIV/AIDS. Washington D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- Haas, Ernst. 1991. When Knowledge is Power. Berkley: University of California Press.
- Haas, Peter M. 1992. "Introduction: Epistemic Communities and International policy coordination." *International Organizations* 46(1):1-35.
- Hermann, Margaret G. 1984. "Personality and Foreign Policy Decision Making: A Study of Fifty-Three Heads of Government." In *Foreign Policy Decision Making*, ed. Donald A. Sylvan and Steve Chan. New York: Praeger.
- HIV International AIDS Conference. 2004. "Does the Will And Capacity Exist to Ensure Universal Access to HIV Treatment." Press Release. <a href="https://www.aids2004.org">www.aids2004.org</a>, 2004.
- IRIN News. 2003. "IRIN-SA Weekly Round-up 155 for 17-21 November 2003" <a href="http://www.irinnews.org/report.asp?ReportID=38040&SelectRegion=Southern\_Africa&SelectCountry=SOUTHERN\_AFRICA">http://www.irinnews.org/report.asp?ReportID=38040&SelectRegion=Southern\_Africa&SelectCountry=SOUTHERN\_AFRICA</a>, 2003.
- Irwin, Alexander, Joyce Millen, and Dorothy Fallows. 2003. *Global AIDS: Myths and Facts*. Cambridge,MA: South End Press.

- Khuat, Thu Hong; Thi Van Anh Nguyen, Jessica Ogden. 2004. "Understanding HIV and AIDS-related Stigma and Discrimination in Vietnam.." ICRW Research Report. <a href="http://www.icrw.org/docs/vietnamstigma\_0204.pdf">http://www.icrw.org/docs/vietnamstigma\_0204.pdf</a>. > 2004.
- Lagos, Marta. 2002. "Venezuela: Popular sovereignty versus liberal democracy." In *Constructing Democratic Governance in Latin Ameri*ca, eds. Jorge I. Dominguez and Michael Shifter. Baltimore: John Hopkins Press.
- Lagos, Marta. 2003. "Latin America's Lost Illusions: A Road with No Return?" *Journal of Democracy* 14:163-173.
- Lijphart, Arend. 1971. "Comparative Politics and the Comparative Method." *American Political Science Review* 65:682-693.
- Long, Clarissa (ed).2000. *Intellectual Property Rights in Emerging Markets*. Washington D.C.: The American Enterprise Institute Press.
- Lueck, Sarah. 1999. "South African Law on Drugs Studied: Lawsuit Suspended." Wall Street Journal, 13 Sept. 1999: A 39
- Milner, Helen. 1997. *Interests, Institutions, and Information*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Mirza, Zafar. 1999. "WTO/TRIPS, Pharmaceuticals, and Health: Impacts and Strategies." *Development* 42(4):92-97.
- Morrison, J. Stephen. 2002. "Expanding Antiretroviral Treatment in Developing Countries Creates Critical New Challenges." Center for Strategic and International Studies <a href="http://www.csis.org/africa/0206\_Expandingbook.pdf">http://www.csis.org/africa/0206\_Expandingbook.pdf</a>>, 2002.
- Nelkin, Dorothy. 1977. Technological Decisions and Democracy: European Experiments in Public Participation. London: Sage Publications.
- Nelufule, Maanda David. 2004. "AIDS and Democracy: What Do We Know?." *Health Economics and Research Division Working Paper*, July 2004.
- Nkengasong John. "Laboratory Monitoring of Antiretroviral Therapy in Developing Countries." Ninth Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, Seattle, 2002.
- Nyblade, Laura, Rohini Pande, Sanyukta Mathur, Kerry MacQuarrie, Ross Kidd, Hailom Banteyerga, Aklilu Kidanu, Gad Kilonzo, Jessie Mbwambo, and Virginia Bond.2003. "Disentangling HIV and AIDS Stigma in Ethiopia, Tanzania and Zambia" ICRW Research Report. <a href="http://www.icrw.org/docs/stigmareport093003.pdf">http://www.icrw.org/docs/stigmareport093003.pdf</a> 2003.
- PAHO. 2002. "Patients under antiretroviral treatment in Latin America and the Caribbean." *Pan American Health Organization*. Available from http://www.paho.org. 2002.

- Patel, Surendra J., Pedro Roffe, and Abdulqawi Yusuf. (eds.) 2001. *International Technology Transfer: The Origins and Aftermath of the United Nations Negotiations on a Draft Code of Conduct.* The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- Petagantienan, Jacques H. and Didier A. Blibolo. 2002. "HIV/AIDS, Lagging Policy Response and Impact on Children: the Case of Cote d'Ivoire." In AIDS, public Policy and Child Well-Being, ed. Giovannia Andrewa Cornia. UNICEF.
- Peters, B. Guy. 1998. *Comparative Politics: Theory and Methods*. New York: New York University Press.
- Piot, P. 1996 "AIDS: A Global Response." Science 272:1855.
- Price-Smith, Andrew. 2002. The Health of Nations: Environmental Change, Infectious Disease and its Effects on National Security and Development. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Rushing, William A. 1995. *The AIDS Epidemic: Social Dimensions of an Infectious Disease*. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Schmidt, Manfred G. 2002. "The Impact of Political Parties, Constitutional Structures, and Veto Players on Public Policy." In *Comparative Democratic Politics*, ed Hans Keman. London: SAGE Publications.
- Schneider, Mark and Michael Moodie. "The Destabilizing Impacts of HIV/AIDS." Center for Strategic and International Studies, <www.csis.org>, 2002.
- Sell, Susan K. 1995. "Intellectual Property protection and antitrust in the developing world: crisis, coercion, and choice." *International Organization* 49(2):315-349.
- Skocpol, Theda. 1985. "Bringing the State Back In: Strategies of Analysis in Current Research," in *Bringing the State Back In*, ed. Peter B. Evans. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Skolnikoff, Eugene. 1993. The Elusive Transformation. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Stanecki, Karen A. and Peter O. Way. "The Dynamic HIV/AIDS Pandemic." In *AIDS in the World II*, eds. Jonathan M. Mann and Daniel J.M. Tarantola. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sui, Cindy. 2003. "China starts Offering Free AIDS Drugs but Lacks Doctors to Administer Them. <a href="http://www.aegis.com/news/afp/2003/AF030781.html">http://www.aegis.com/news/afp/2003/AF030781.html</a>, 2003.
- Summers, Todd, Jennifer Kates, and Gillian Murphy. 2002. "The Tip of the Iceberg: The Global Impact of HIV/AIDS on youth." Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. <a href="http://www.kff.org">http://www.kff.org</a> 2004.
- UNAIDS. 2004. "AIDS Epidemic Update." Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS 2004. <a href="http://www.unaids.org">http://www.unaids.org</a> 2004 December.

- UNGASS. 2002. "UNGASS Followup Country Reports." *UNAIDS*. December 2004. Available from unaids.org.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) 2004. *Ideas and Contributions: Democracy in Latin America*. New York: United Nations Development Programme.
- Von Schomberg, Rene. 1993. *Science, politics, and morality: scientific uncertainty and decision making*. Dordecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Watal, Jayashree. 2001. *Intellectual Property Rights in the WTO and developing Count*ries. The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- WHO. 2004. "Coverage of selected services for HIV/AIDS prevention, care and support in low and middle income countries in 2003." *World Health Organization*. June 2004. Available from who.int.
- WHO.2004. "'3 by 5': Progress Report." *World Health Organization*. December 2004. Available from who.int.

# **b.** Country Data

#### i. Honduras

- Agence France- Presse. 1999. Poblaciones enteras de Honduras podrían desaparecer por el sida. *Agence France-Presse*. Lexis-Nexis. July 8, 1999.
- Agence France-Presse. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "Centroamérica buscara acceso a medicinas contra el sida en foro de la ONU." *Agence France-Presse*. June 20, 2001.
- Agence France-Presse. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "América Latina rezagada en la Guerra contra el sida, salvo Brasil." *Agence France-Presse*. June 27, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France-Presse. 2001<sub>c</sub>. "Honduras quiere convertirse en sitio de ensayo de vacuna contra SIDA." *Agence France Presse*. October 13, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>d</sub>. "Sida podría propagarse en Centroamérica como en África, advierte ONU." November 15, 2001. *Agence France Presse*. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Honduras-salud-sida: Unos 30.000 muertes deja el sida en Honduras desde 1985." February 16, 2002. *Agence France Presse*. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>b</sub>." Experto Frances sobre sida Luc Montagnier visita Honduras." *Agence France Presse*. February 25, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>c</sub>. "Kofi Annan arribo a Honduras para realizar vista de dos días." *Agence France Presse*. March 18, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>d</sub>. "Secretario general de la ONU viaja de Honduras a México." *Agence France Presse*. March 19, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>e</sub>. "Annan participa en lanzamiento de 'guerra' contra el SIDA en Honduras." *Agence France Presse*. March 19, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>f</sub>. "Honduras deberá pagar 741, 700 dólares a mujer que fue contagiado de sida." *Agence France Presse*. April 1, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>g</sub>. "Cuatro países europeos crearon red medica para luchar contra el SIDA." *Agence France Presse*. April 9, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>h</sub>. "Honduras es el epicentro de la epidemia del sida en América Latina." *Agence France Presse*. July 4, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>i</sub>. "Primeras damas de América inauguran reunión sobre niños pobres de la región." *Agence France Presse*. September 26, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>j</sub>. "Analizaran efectos del ALCA sobre el acceso a los medicamentos." *Agence France Presse*. November 10, 2002. Lexis Nexis.

- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>k</sub>. "El ALCA agravaría barreras para acceso a medicamentos." *Agence France Presse*. November 12, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>1</sub>. "Sida en América Latina: 100,000 muertos en 2002, pero 'progresos admirables' en tratamiento." *Agence France Presse*. November 26, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>m</sub>. "ONU e Iglesia hondureña lanzan su propia campana contra el sida." *Agence France Presse*. November 30, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>n</sub>. "ONU aprueba a Honduras millones de dólares para lucha contra Sida." *Agence France Presse*. December 1, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Reparten dos millones de condones para evitar propagación del sida en Honduras." *Agence France Presse*. April 16, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>b</sub>."España Presenta programa hospitalario contra el Sida para Latinoamérica." *Agence France Presse*. April 28, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Honduras en camino al descalabro social por el SIDA (Unicef)." *Agence France Presse*. November 23, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- AIDS Weekly. "HIV/AIDS Prevention; Stigmatization thwarts HIV prevention efforts in Honduras." *AIDS Weekly* August 16, 2004. p.37.
- Associated Press. 2003. "U.N. Report: Honduras has highest HIV-infection rate in Central America." *Associated Press*. October 16, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Beach R., M Baum, J. Shultz, E. Mantero-Atienza, R. Prineas, M. Thiebaud-Alvarenga, JC. Alvarenga, R. Gutierrez, D. Tercero, E. Zelaya, and Hogarty. International Training in AIDS Epidemiology, Miami, FL. "Patterns of HIV-infection in Central America." International Conference of AIDS. June 20-23: 6)2):228. Abstract no. F.C.590.
- Capdevila, Gustavo. 1998. "U.N. to fight Mother to Child Contagion." *Inter Press Service*. June 29, 1998. p1.
- Carbonell, C.2004. "18 months of experience with HAART in the seaport of Tela, Honduras." International AIDS conference . July 11-16, 15:( abstract no. B11048 )
- Deutsche Presse Agentur. 2002. "Honduras: Condenan a Estado a pagar 800 mil dólares por contagio sida." *Deutsche Presse Agentur*. Apri1, 2002. Lexis Nexis
- Deutsche Presse Agentur. 2003. "Centroamérica recibe trato preferencial de firmas farmacéuticas.". *Deutsche Presse Agentur*. January 30, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "Salud-SIDA Sanidad firma con Montagnier acuerdo colaboración lucha sida." *Efe News Services*. November 6, 2001. Lexis Nexis.

- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "Honduras destaca necesidad atender sida, pobreza y analfabetismo." *Efe News Services*. November 11, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>c</sub>. "Lucha por retrovirales marca el Día Mundial contra el Sida." *Efe News Services*. December 2, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Fundación del descrubidor SIDA construirá centro de investigación." *Efe News Services*. February 25, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>b</sub>. "Annan advierte 'alarmante' impacto del sida en jóvenes Hondureños." *Efe News Services*. March 19, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>c</sub>. "Ayuda internacional intentara paliar mal que causo 6.000 muertos." *Efe News Services.* March 20, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>d</sub>. "BM-Honduras BM aprueba crédito para reformar sistema de salud en Honduras." *Efe News Services*. May 8, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>e</sub>. "Lanzan dos nuevas campanas para contrarrestar el sida." *Efe News Services*. November 30, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Centroamérica-SIDA Empresas reducirán 55 por ciento precio de medicinas contra SIDA." *Efe News Services*. January 29, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "España-Honduras Primera dama Honduras ve necesidad impulsar ayudar contra sida." *Efe News Services*. June 11, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Honduras reconoce legalmente tres organizaciones de homosexuales." *Efe News Services*. August 27, 2004. Lexis Nexis
- Efe News Services. 2004<sub>b</sub>. "FFAA hondureños y ONUSIDA firman convenio para prevenir el SIDA." *Efe News Services*. November 2, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2004<sub>c</sub>. "Honduras-SIDA; advierten que el sida es principal amenaza de juventud y economía." *Efe News Services*. November 30, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2004<sub>d</sub>. "Día SIDA-Honduras; ONUSIDA advierte que 37.000 niños serán huérfanos de madre 2010." *Efe News Services*. December 2, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- El Mundo. 2001. "SIDA: Lastima a Honduras y Costa Rica." *El Mundo*. April 12, 2001. Vol. XXXVI(48):3.
- Farah, Douglas. 1997. "Rampant AIDS Overwhelms Facilities in Honduras; Volunteers Step Forward to Comfort Children Facing Death With Little Hope of Medical Assistance." *Washington Post*. May 13, 1997, A12.

- El Diario La Prensa. 1997. "El Sida: un asesino a sueldo de la pobreza y la ignorancia." *El Diario La Prensa*. December 23, 1997. 16.
- La Opinión. 2004. "Dos millones con VIH en Latinoamérica." *La Opinión*. July 6, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Leiva, Noe. 2003. "Sida deja nueve huérfanos a diario en Honduras (oficial)." *Agence France Presse*. August 22, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Luxner, Larry. 1992. "Alto índice de Sida en San Pedro Sula." *El Nueva Heráld*. November 26, 1992. A1. Miami, FL
- Mario, F., S. Forsythe, C. Nunez, L. Hsu, E. Zelaya, M. Sweat; Ministry of Health, Tegucigalpa, Honduras. "Projecting the economic impact of HIV/AIDS in the two largest cities of Honduras." *International Conference on AIDS*, June 6-11; 9:921(abstract no. PO-D28-4218).
- Munoz, Nefer. 2003. "Health-Central America: Victory in Fight for Low-Cost AIDS Drugs." *Global Information Network*. Jan 31, 2001. 1.
- Nunez, C., L. Hsu, JE Zelaya, M. Sweat, TD King, S. Forsythe; National AIDS Control Program, Tegucigalpa, Honduras. *International Conference on AIDS*. 1993. June 6-11; 9:100 (abstract no. WS-C19-2).
- Nunez C., M. Flores, O. Garcia, and L. Bollinger. 2002. "The Socioeconomic Impact of HIV/AIDS in Honduras." *International AIDS Conference Abstract*. July 7-12: 14 (abstract no. E11520).
- Quintanilla, Carlos. 1996. "Ignorado pero moral, el sida hace estragos en América Latina: Los gobiernos del subcontinente ignore el problema." *La Opinión*. November 9, 1996. Vol. 71 (54): 7A.
- Rivera, Scott Np, E. Schiff, R Rosales. 2004. "Towards the development of a comprehensive national HIV/AIDS response in Honduras." *International AIDS Conference* July 11-16, 15 (abstract no. ThPeE7968).
- Taylor-Robinson, M.M. 2003. "The elections in Honduras, November 2001." *Electoral Studies* (22):563-559.
- UNFPA. 2002. "State of the World Population: People, Poverty and Possibilities." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2003. "State of the World Population: Making 1 Billion Count: Investing in Adolescents' Health and Rights. *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2004. "State of the World Population: The Cairo Consensus at Ten: Population, Reproductive Health and The Global Effort to End Poverty." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.

- Wilkinson, Tracy. 1993.. "National Agenda Prostitution, Prejudice Fuel AIDS Epidemic in Honduras..." Los Angeles Times. July 27, 1993:1.
- Winslow, Kiaslala. 1996. "International (Central America); U.S. Experts Warn of Honduras AIDS Risk to Women.," *AIDS Weekly*, February 26, 1996. 17.

## ii. Nicaragua

- Agence France Presse. 2000<sub>a</sub>. "Nicaragua-salud-sida: El Gobierno niega que hay 40,000 enfermos de sida en Nicaragua." *Agence France Presse*. August 22, 2000. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2000<sub>b</sub>. "Nicaragua tiene registrados 550 casos de SIDA." *Agence France Presse*. November 29, 2000. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Nicaragua reporta 1.099 casos oficiales de sida en 16 anos." *Agence France Presse*. October 14, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "ONG entregara condones en día de lucha contra el SIDA en Nicaragua." *Agence France Presse*. November 30, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Anderson, Leslie and Lawrence Dodd. 2002. "Nicaragua Votes: The Elections of 2001." *Journal of Democracy*. 13(3):80-94.
- Deutsche Presse Agentur. 2003. "Centroamérica recibe trato preferencial de firmas farmacéuticas.". *Deutsche Presse Agentur*. January 30, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. .2001<sub>a</sub>. "Nicaragua-salud informe epidemiológico señal aumento del sida este ano." *Efe News Services*. May 5, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "Centroamérica-Medicamentos Lanzan Campana Para Mejorar Acceso a Medicamentos." *Efe News Services*. June 18, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>c</sub>. "ONU-SIDA/ Centroamérican Países: Centroamericanos comparten experiencia en lucha sida." *Efe News Services*. June 25, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Nicaragua-SALUD-, Gobierno anuncia plan de salud en los territorios mas vulnerables." *Efe News Services*. February 4, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Nicaragua-ONU; Muy difícil alcanzar las metas de desarrollo del milenio." *Efe News Services*. March 11, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "Centroamérica-SIDA; Mas de 73.000 niños centroamericanos quedaron huérfanos por sida." *Efe News Services*. October 17, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003d. "Centroamérica-SIDA; Demandan respeto derecho portadores virus y acceso a medicamentos." October 17, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>e</sub>. "Centroamérica-Sida; Países piden mas ayuda ante 'pasos agigantados' de la epidemia." *Efe News Services*. October 18, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>f</sub>. "OPS-SIDA; Persiste estigma y discriminación contra personas con VIH/SIDA." *Efe News Services*. November 25, 2003. Lexis Nexis.

- Efe News Services. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Nicaragua-Salud, Nicaragua pone en marcha plan nacional salud periodo 2004-2015." *Efe News Services*. September 6, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Espinoza, F. M. Egger, A. Gorter, B. Herrmann, R. Rivera, GD Smith, UNAN Leon. 1993. "Low incidence of AIDS in Nicaragua: Why and for how much longer?" *International AIDS Conference* 1993, June 6-11. (abstract no. PO-CO6-2703).
- La Republica. 2003. "Honduras, Nicaragua, y Guayana en riesgo de incumplir metas de Banco Mundial." *La Republica*. April 8, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Medrano, J., J. Pauw, R. Rivera, M. Egger, D. Medrano, GD Smith, Ministry of Health Managua. 1993. "Knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding AIDS in Nicaragua." *International AIDS Conference* 1993. June 6-11, 9:121 (abstract no. WS-D18-2).
- Munoz, Nefer. 2003. "Health-Central America: Victory in Fight for Low-Cost AIDS Drugs." *Global Information Network*. Jan 31, 2001. 1.
- Siegel G, G Bonilla, R. Pao, E. Villatoro, S. Forsythe, E. Gaillard, R. Calderon, AIDSCAP. 1993. "The epidemiologic, social and economic impact of HIV/AIDS in three Central American Countries: A Country Specific & Regional Analysis." *International AIDS Conference* July 7-12: 11-49 (abstract no. We.D.364).
- Stahler-Sholk, Richard. 2003. "The Presidential and Legislative elections in Nicaragua, 2001." *Electoral Studies* 22:538-544.
- UNFPA. 2002. "State of the World Population: People, Poverty and Possibilities." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2003. "State of the World Population: Making 1 Billion Count: Investing in Adolescents' Health and Rights. *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2004. "State of the World Population: The Cairo Consensus at Ten: Population, Reproductive Health and The Global Effort to End Poverty." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2002. "El Sida Avanza en Nicaragua." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 7, 2002. Lexis Nexis
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Inauguran proceso de consulta para plan de salud en Nicaragua." *Xinhua News Agency*. June 10, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "Anuncian jornada de jóvenes contra el SIDA en Nicaragua." *Xinhua News Agency*. July 9, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>c</sub>. "Advierten que Nicaragua no cumplirá metas contra la pobreza. "Xinhua News Agency. July 15, 2003. Lexis Nexis.

- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>d</sub>. "Respaldan maestros nicaragüenses manual de educación sexual." *Xinhua News Agency*. August 7, 2003. Lexis Nexis
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>e</sub>. "Apoya Nicaragua la importación de medicinas genéricas baratas." *Xinhua News Agency*. September 10, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>f</sub>. "Crece en Nicaragua preocupación por expansión del sida." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 1, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Gobierno de Nicaragua, principal violador de Derechos Humanos." *Xinhua News Agency*. February 27, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>b</sub>. "SIDA entra en transporte por frontera nicaragüense." *Xinhua News Agency*. May 14, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>c</sub>. "Jóvenes nicaragüenses tienen elevado conocimiento del SIDA." *Xinhua News Agency*. July 02, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>d</sub>. "Denuncian carencias e irregularidades en hospitales de Nicaragua." *Xinhua News Agency*. August 16, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>e</sub>. "Presenta Plan Nacional de la Juventud presidente nicaragüense." *Xinhua News Agency*. August 27, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>f</sub>. "Presentan nuevo Plan Nacional de Salud en Nicaragua." *Xinhua News Agency*. September 6, 2004. Lexis Nexis.

## iii. Chile

- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "El Sida diezma la mano de obra y reduce el crecimiento económico mundial." *Agence France Presse*. June 26, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "Chile-Salud: Corto Suprema Chilena falla contra enfermos de SIDA." *Agence France Presse*. October 9, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>c</sub>. "Diez detenidos cuando exigían protección a enfermos de sida en Chile." *Agence France Presse*. October 18, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Gobierno chileno anuncia reforma a sistema de atención en salud." *Agence France Presse*. June 27, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003. "Chile-salud-sida: Se sobrevalora el uso del condón como método antisida, dice Iglesia chilena." *Agence France Presse*. December 1, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2004. "Reunión en Foz de Iguazú para firmar 'pacto' del MERCOSUR contra el sida." *Agence France Presse*. May 3, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- AIDS Weekly. 2003. "Pharmacoeconomics; New negotiations lower prices of HIV drugs in 10 countries of the Americas." *AIDS Weekly*. July 7, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Arredondo, A., M. Bachelet, R. Child, Comisión Nacional de Sida. 1993. "AIDS characteristics in Chile (1984-1992). *International Conference of AIDS* 1003. June 6-11.. 9:668 (abstract nop. PO-C06=2706).
- Brown, David. 1997. "Project to Test How Therapies for AIDS work in Poor Nations; U.N. Program will Look at Economic, Organizational Factors." *Washington Post*. November 5, 1997, A.02.
- Capdevila, Gustavo. 1998. "U.N. to fight Mother to Child Contagion." *Inter Press Service*. June 29, 1998. p1.
- Deutsche Presse Agentur. 2003. "Chile: Todos los enfermos de Sida recibiran medicamentos gratuitos." *Deutsche Presse Agentur*. June 2, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2000. "Brasil-SIDA Expertos Aplauden a Brasil, Ejemplo Mundial de Lucha Contra SIDA." *Efe News Services*. November 8, 2000. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "ONU-SIDA/Chile Ministra reconoció miedo a "Africanization" del Fondo Mundial." *Efe News Services*. June 27, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "Chile-SIDA; Chile promulga ley que prohíbe discriminación a causa del SIDA." *Efe News Services*. December 4, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Chile-SIDA: Demandan a empresa en Chile por despido de trabajadores con SIDA." *Efe News Services*. August 16, 2002. Lexis Nexis.

- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>b</sub>. "Chile-Salud Mas de 2000 maquinas de condones en campana contra Sida en Chile." *Efe News Services*. October 25, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>c</sub>. "Andinos-Salud: Andinos se unen para negociar mejor acceso a medicamentos SIDA." *Efe News Services*. November 30, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Estrada, Daniela. 2004. "Health: Chile Making Strong Gains in Fight Against HIV." *Global Information Network*. October 20, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Gonzlez, Gustavo. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Health-Chile: AIDS Prevention Key Focus of First Gay Newspaper." June 13, 2002. *Global Information Network*. p.1.
- Gonzlez, Gustavo. 2002<sub>b</sub>. "Health-Chile: Women with HIV have more options than before." July 18, 2002. *Global Information Network*. 1.
- Hughes, Emma and Nigel Parsons. 2001. "The 1999-2000 Presidential Elections in Chile." *Electoral Studies* 28:641-5
- Leal, Francisco. 2001. "Una vacuna social en Chile: La ley que prohíbe discriminar a enfermos de sida, abre nuevas esperanzas a infectados." *La Opinión*. December 9, 2001. 5A.
- Ortiz, Nufiez E., A. Arredondo Paz,, R. Child Goldenberg. 2000. "Demographic impact of AIDS mortality in Chile." *International Conference of AIDS* 2000. 13:50. (abstract no. LbPeC7068).
- Pribble, Jennifer. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "AIDS Spreading in Chile." *United Press International*. August 22, 2001.
- Pribble, Jennifer. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "Chile's Health Budget Facing Shortfall." *United Press International*. September 5, 2001.
- Reuters. 1988. "Chile to Require AIDS Tests for Foreigners." *Reuters*. November 11, 1988. Lexis Nexis.
- Sturchio, Jeffrey L. 1999. "Economics (Conference News); Global Prevention, Funding, Accountability Debated in Fight Against HIV/AIDS." *Immunotherapy Weekly*. October 18, 1999. 9-11.
- Talavera, Arturo Fontaine. 2000. "Chile's Elections: The New Face of the Right." *Journal of Democracy* 11(22): 70-77.
- UNFPA. 2002. "State of the World Population: People, Poverty and Possibilities." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2003. "State of the World Population: Making 1 Billion Count: Investing in Adolescents' Health and Rights. *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.

- UNFPA. 2004. "State of the World Population: The Cairo Consensus at Ten: Population, Reproductive Health and The Global Effort to End Poverty." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UPI Chile. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Minasalud califica como 'grave' denuncia de mujeres con Sida esterilizadas sin consentimiento." UPI Chile. May 13, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- UPI Chile. 2004<sub>b</sub>. "Minasalud investiga déficit en entrega de fármacos para enfermos de Sida." *UPI Chile*. June 29, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- UPI Chile. 2004<sub>c</sub>. "Minasalud llama a tener vida sexual responsable para evitar VIH/Sida." *UPI Chile*. October 13, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- UPI Chile. 2004<sub>d</sub>. "Día mundial del SIDA: 50 mil infectados en Chile y aumenta en mujeres." UPI Chile. December 1, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- UPI Chile. 2004<sub>e</sub>. "Sernam y Ministerio de Salud firman acuerdo para prevenir virus del Sida en mujeres." *UPI Chile*. December 1, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- UPI Chile. 2004<sub>f</sub>. "El 41 por ciento de chilenas con Sida son dueñas de casa y el 28 por ciento casadas." *UPI Chile*. December 1, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2002. "Chile llama a no discriminación en Día Mundial del SIDA." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 07, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Gobierno de Chile pide no censurar anuncios contra SIDA." *Xinhua News Agency*. October 27, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "Grupos conservadores condenan campana contra sida en Chile." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 1, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>c</sub>. "Continuara campana chilena contra Sida a pesar de conservadores." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 2, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2003<sub>d</sub>. "Gobierno de Chile defiende uso del condón contra el sida." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 3, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Chile falta de medicamentos para atender a enfermos de SIDA." *Xinhua News Agency*. June 29, 2004. Lexis Nexis.

## iv. Colombia

- Agence France Presse. 2000<sub>a</sub>. "América Latina multiplica esfuerzos para detener avance del sida." *Agence France Presse*. December 1, 2000. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2000<sub>b</sub>. "Colombia-Sida mas de 250,000 personas tienen el virus pero no lo no saben." *Agence France Presse*. December 2, 2000. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "En Colombia hay 220.000 personas con sida." *Agence France Presse*. June 2, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "FARC ordeno examen de VIH a habitantes de población bajo su control." *Agence France Presse*. October 10, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2001<sub>c</sub>. "Colombia-Sida: En Colombia fueron reportados 2.447 casos de sida en últimos 11 anos." *Agence France Presse*. November 20, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "Ministerial de OMC busca acuerdo para acceso a medicinas de países pobres." *Agence France Presse*. November 12, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>b</sub>. "El ALCA agravaría barreras para acceso a medicamentos." *Agence France Presse*. November 12, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2002<sub>c</sub>. "Ministros andinos de Salud en Lima analizan acceso a medicamentos contra el sida." *Agence France Presse*. November 28, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "Cardenal Colombiano Lopez Trujillo pide campana sobre 'ineficacia' de los preservativos." *Agence France Presse*. October 13, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "Debate sobre preservativo: ministro brasileño rebate a cardenal colombiano." *Agence France Presse*. October 15, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>c</sub>. "Colombia y Brasil firman acuerdo para atender a portadores de VIH/sida." *Agence France Presse*. October 18, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>d</sub>. "Al menos 220.000 colombianos serian portadores del sida." *Agence France Presse*. December 1, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2003<sub>e</sub>. "Colombia-Salud-Sida: Ante campana de laicos contra condón, ONU insiste en su efectividad." *Agence France Presse*. December 3, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Los preservativos pueden ayudar a propagar el sida, dice cardenal colombiano." *Agence France Presse*. January 21, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Agence France Presse. 2004<sub>b</sub>. "En Colombia podría haber 180.000 portadores de VIH." *Agence France Presse*. November 30, 2004. Lexis Nexis.

- AIDS Weekly. 2003. "Pharmacoeconomics; New negotiations lower prices of HIV drugs in 10 countries of the Americas." *AIDS Weekly*. July 7, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- ANSA Noticiero. 2004. "Colombia-SIDA: 200 millones dólares para prevenir el sida." *ANSA Noticiero*. August 10, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Ardila, H. 1998. "Access to treatment for people living with HIV/AIDS in Colombia." *International Conference on AIDS*. June 28-Jul3. 12:837 (abstract no. 42316).
- Boshell, J., M.G. Gacharna, M. Garcia, L.S. Jaramillo, G. Marquez, M.M. Fergusson, S. Gonzalez, E.Y. Prada, R. de Rangel, and R. de Cabas. 1989. "AIDS in Colombia." *Bull Pan Am Health Organization*. 1989: 23(1-2):24-9.
- Cespedes, J., J. Castro., A. Molano, and C. Carmago. 1998<sub>a</sub>. "The Impact of HIV/AIDS prevention and control efforts in Colombia." *International Conference on AIDS*. 1998. June 28-July 3; 12:721 (abstract no. 34180.)
- Cespedes, J., S. Forsythe, E. Gaillard, G. Siegel, J. Castro, D. Ospina, C. Morales. 1998<sub>b</sub>. "The economic and social costs from the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Colombia. International Conference on AIDS. 1998. June 28-July 3: 12:716 (abstract no. 34150).
- Deutsche Presse Agentur. 2002. "Colombia: Denuncian campana de exterminio contra infectados de sida." *Deutsche Presse Agentur*. July 30, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>a</sub>. "Colombia-Sida; Gobierno anuncia campana contra mal que afecta 225.000 personas." *Efe News Services*. June 4, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>b</sub>. "OMC-CUMBRE; Brasil, Colombia y México en reunión previa a cumbre de la OMC." *Efe News Services*. October 10, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2001<sub>c</sub>. "Colombia-Guerrilla; Las FARC ordenan pruebas de sida a 4.000 personas de zona neutral." *Efe News Services*. October 10, 2001. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "ONU-SIDA/LATINOAMERICA: Falta respuesta eficaz contra el sida en Latinoamérica y Caribe). *Efe News Services*. July 2, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>b</sub>. "Conferencia SIDA ONG; Latinoamérica se manifiestan por falta de tratamientos." *Efe News Services*. July 11, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>c</sub>. "Colombia-SIDA; Unos 450,000 colombianos podrían estar infectados, según estudios." *Efe News Services*. September 19, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>d</sub>. "Colombia-SALUD; Intervienen medicamentos por abusos en precio y mata calidad." *Efe News Services*. November 15, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>e</sub>. "ANDINOS-SALUD CAN discutirá políticas de salud con presencia ministra española." *Efe News Services*. November 27, 2002. Lexis Nexis.

- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>e</sub>. "ANDIONS-SALUD; Andinos se unen para negociar mejor accesso a medicamentos SIDA." November 30, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2002<sub>f</sub>. "Brasil-SIDA; Brasil ayudara a Colombia, El Salvador y Paraguay a combatir sida." December 18, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>a</sub>. "EEUU-COLOMBIA; Uribe dice que país necesita 'urgentemente' ayuda de Washington." *Efe News Services*. July 24, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>b</sub>. "COLUMBIA-SALUD; Reglaran siete millones de condones durante campana en Bogota." *Efe News Services*. November 20, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2003<sub>c</sub>. "COLOMBIA-SIDA; El 1,6 por ciento de los colombianos pueden tener sida en 2010." *Efe News Services*. November 25, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Efe News Services. 2004. "DIA-SIDA-COLOMBIA; Uribe llama a prevenir 'la mas tenebrosa amenaza contra la vida." *Efe News Services*. December 2, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Garca, Mara Isabel. 2002. "Health-Colombia: Claims for AIDS Treatment Soar." *Efe News Servces*. August 5, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Garcia, R., W. Klaskala, C. Angulo, M. Baum, and the Department of Epidemiology and Public Health at the University of Miami." 1996. "HIV and AIDS Surveillance in Colombia." *International Conference of AIDS*. 1996 July 7-12: 11(1):151 (abstract no. Mo.C.1559).
- Noticias Financieras. 2003. "CAFTA podría impedir el acceso de países pobres a medicamentos contra HIV; Pacto amenaza acceso a medicamentos." *Noticias Financieras*. December 9, 2003. Lexis Nexis.
- Perfetti, Gr. 1998. "Access to AIDS treatment and care services using legal means." *International Conference of AIDS* 1998. June 28-Jul3. 12:990 (abstract no. 44272).
- Ulloa, Fernando C. and Eduardo P. Carbo. 2002. "The Congressional and Presidential Elections in Colombia, 2002." *Electoral Studies* 22(785-792).
- UNFPA. 2002. "State of the World Population: People, Poverty and Possibilities." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2003. "State of the World Population: Making 1 Billion Count: Investing in Adolescents' Health and Rights. *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- UNFPA. 2004. "State of the World Population: The Cairo Consensus at Ten: Population, Reproductive Health and The Global Effort to End Poverty." *UNFPA*. Available from Unfpa.org.
- WOLA. 2002. "Colombia Monitor." Washington Office on Latin America. 1-15

- Xinhua News Agency. 2002<sub>a</sub>. "El SIDA en Colombia: Hay mcuho mas casos que los reportados." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 7, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2002<sub>b</sub>. "Brasil asistirá contra el sida a Colombia, El Salvador y Paraguay." *Xinhua News Agency*. December 19, 2002. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>a</sub>. "Apoyo mundial para reducir SIDA entre 600 mil jóvenes colombianos." *Xinhua News Agency*. April 14, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>b</sub>. "Colombia dice que defenderá medicamentos genéricos en TLC." *Xinhua News Agency*. May 19, 2004. Lexis Nexis.
- Xinhua News Agency. 2004<sub>c</sub>. "Reportan 40 mil casos de SIDA en Colombia." *Xinhua News Agency*. November 30, 2004. Lexis Nexis.

## 10. APPENDICES

**Appendix A: Percentage of Antiretroviral Therapy Provision** 

	2002	2003	2004
Argentina	100	100	90
Bolivia	6		19
Brazil		100	86
Chile	91	100	100
Colombia	35		47
Ecuador	65		34
El Salvador		30	32
Guatemala		23	30
Honduras	4	18	30
Mexico		100	74
Nicaragua	0	2	4
Peru	15		18
Uruguay		90	100

Appendix B: Composite H1 Index (2002-2004)

Country	2002	2003	2004	Average
Argentina	37.46%	37.96%	38.82%	38.08%
Bolivia	8.48%	8.47%	8.56%	8.51%
Brazil	25.02%	24.92%	25.26%	25.07%
Chile	19.37%	18.85%	19.13%	19.12%
Colombia	16.15%	16.17%	16.35%	16.22%
Ecuador	15.82%	15.81%	16.05%	15.89%
El Salvador	15.97%	15.92%	16.03%	15.97%
Guatemala	11.10%	11.06%	11.13%	11.10%
High income	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%
Honduras	9.21%	9.21%	9.32%	9.25%
Mexico	24.84%	24.71%	26.87%	25.47%
Nicaragua	9.23%	16.21%	16.43%	13.96%
Peru	14.01%	14.03%	14.21%	14.08%
Uruguay	42.90%	42.89%	43.97%	43.25%

**Appendix C: Determination of Ordered Pairs** 



